
Please ask for:
Lisa Young
Direct dial:
(023) 9254 5340
Fax:
(023) 9254 5587
E-mail:
lisa.young@gosport.gov.uk

25 January 2021

S U M M O N S

MEETING: Policy and Organisation Board
DATE: 2 February 2021
TIME: 6.00 pm
PLACE: Virtually
Democratic Services contact: Lisa Young

PAUL GRANT 
BOROUGH SOLICITOR AND MONITORING OFFICER

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

Councillor Mrs Huggins (Mayor) and Councillor Hook (Chairman)

Councillor Ms Ballard
Councillor Bateman
Councillor Burgess
Councillor Chegwyn
Councillor Mrs Cully
Councillor Foster-Reed
Councillor Herridge

Councillor Mrs Hook
Councillor Hylands
Councillor Jessop
Councillor Murphy
Councillor Philpott
Councillor Mrs Prickett
Councillor Raffaelli

Public Document Pack



IMPORTANT NOTICE:

 If you are in a wheelchair or have difficulty in walking and require 
access to the Committee Room on the First Floor of the Town Hall 
for this meeting, assistance can be provided by Town Hall staff on 
request.

If you require any of the services detailed above please ring the Direct Line 
for the Democratic Services Officer listed on the Summons (first page).

NOTE:

i. Councillors are requested to note that, if any Councillor who is not a Member of the Board 
wishes to speak at the Board meeting, then the Borough Solicitor is required to receive 
not less than 24 hours prior notice in writing or electronically and such notice shall 
indicate the agenda item or items on which the member wishes to speak. 

ii. Please note that mobile phones should be switched off or switched to silent for the duration 
of the meeting.

iii. This meeting may be filmed or otherwise recorded. By attending this meeting, you are 
consenting to any broadcast of your image and being recorded. 



Policy and Organisation Board
2 February 2021

AGENDA

RECOMMENDED 
MINUTE FORMAT

1.  APOLOGIES FOR NON-ATTENDANCE 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

All Members are required to declare, at this point in the meeting or 
as soon as possible thereafter, any disclosable pecuniary interest or 
personal interest in any item(s) being considered at this meeting.

3.  MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE BOARD HELD ON 25 
NOVEMBER 2020 

4.  DEPUTATIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.4 

(NOTE: The Board is required to receive a deputation(s) on a matter 
which is before the meeting of the Board provided that notice of the 
intended deputation and its object shall have been received by the 
Borough Solicitor by 12 noon on Friday 29 January 2021.  The total 
time for deputations in favour and against a proposal shall not 
exceed 10 minutes).

5.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.5 

(NOTE: The Board is required to allow a total of 15 minutes for 
questions from Members of the public on matters within the terms of 
reference of the Board provided that notice of such Question(s) shall 
have been submitted to the Borough Solicitor by 12 noon on Friday 
29 January 2021)

6.  CORPORATE VOLUNTEER POLICY 

The approval of a Volunteer Policy which provides a corporate 
framework of understanding, accountability and good practice for 
volunteers in Council Services.

7.  URGENT DECISIONS FOR BUSINESS RATE RELIEF ,GRANTS 
AND COUNCIL TAX 

Report to follow

8.  ANY OTHER ITEMS 



Policy and Organisation Board
2 February 2021

9.  EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

Item 
No. 

Item Paragraph no.3 of Part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Act

10. Reduction /Remission 
of Business Rates on 
the Grounds of  
Hardship Application 
for Marina Fitness Ltd

Paragraph 3
The report contains financial 
data which is identified as 
sensitive material

10.  HARDSHIP MARINA FITNESS 

To consider an application for hardship relief from non-domestic 
rates under Section 49 of the Local Government Finance Act 
submitted by Marina Fitness Ltd, Unit H1 The Granary and Bakery 
(AKA The Slaughterhouse), Weevil Lane, Gosport PO12 1FX



Policy and Organisation Board
25 November 2020

1

A MEETING OF THE POLICY AND ORGANISATION BOARD
WAS HELD ON 25 NOVEMBER 2020

Councillors Mrs Huggins (Substituting for Murphy), Ms Ballard, Bateman, Burgess, 
Chegwyn, Mrs Cully, Herridge, Hook, Mrs Hook, Hylands, Jessop, Philpott, Mrs Prickett and 
Raffaelli

27. APOLOGIES FOR NON-ATTENDANCE 

An apology for non attendance was received from Councillor Murphy. 

28. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were none. 

29. MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE BOARD HELD ON 29/09/2020 

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 29th September 2020 be signed as a 
true and correct record. 

30. DEPUTATIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.4 

There were none. 

31. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.5 

There were none. 

32. CITIZEN'S ADVICE PRESENTATION 

A presentation was given by the CO and CEO of Citizen’s Advice Gosport. 

33. LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER ELECTIONS 

Consideration was given to a report of the Returning Officer and the Electoral Registration 
Officer advising the Board of the steps being taken in preparation for the ‘triple’ elections 
being held on Thursday, 06 May 2021 in the current Covid-19 pandemic.

Members were advised that the date in paragraph 2.6.1 needed to be amended to the 8th 
May. 

In answer to a Member’s question, the Board was advised that consideration was  being 
given to the nomination process and returning officers and parties had be written to with an 
update. It was anticipated that parties would produce their own guidance for candidates to 
consider when obtaining nominations. 

The Board was advised that under the representation of the people act the Returning 
Officer already had power to make emergency changes to polling station between 7 – 10 

Agenda Item 3



Policy and Organisation Board
25 November 2020

2

days before an election if required. Members expressed concern that any late changes may 
not be advised to the electorate, however it was felt Council staff would do their best to 
ensure people were notified. 

In answer to a Member’s question, the Board was advised that with regard to the campaign 
material in relation to elections, there was information available online, but there would not 
be any television advertising as it was felt it was too soon to use such an approach and 
these would begin in March and April. 

The Board were advised that once the Register of Electors had been published more social 
media about the elections would be used through the Council’s channels. 

The Board was advised that with regard to staffing, the current covid safe requirements 
meant there would be a need for more sessions for issuing postal votes. The staff required 
were highlighted as job roles, many staff would take on roles at different sessions, reducing 
the number of people required. In addition, as a triple election, there would be three 
different counts, requiring additional staff roles. 

The Board was advised that the extensions requested to emergency provision were only to 
cover the covid pandemic and once that period was over, the delegated powers would 
return to their previous levels. 

Members welcomed that consideration was being given to potential issues in advance of 
the election. 

RESOLVED:
1. That the Board note the changes necessary to ensure a safe and efficient run Poll 

during the Covid-19 pandemic;
2. That the Board note that more changes and amendments may be required to the current 

planning and procedures based on national, regional or local restrictions placed on the 
Returning Officer, his appointed staff, electors, candidates, agents and observers; and 
that 

3. That authority be delegated to the Returning Officer to make changes to the Polling 
Places required for use in these and future Polls whilst the Coronavirus (Covid-19) 
pandemic response is in effect.

34. RIPA POLICY - CROSS REFERENCE FROM THE STANDARDS AND 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

Consideration was given to a cross reference report from the Standards and Governance 
Committee recommended the approval of the RIPA policy.

In answer to a Member’s question, the Board was advised that the principle reason for 
review was a change in the authorised officers. 

The Board were advised that RIPA had been used once in 3 years. 



Policy and Organisation Board
25 November 2020

3

RESOLVED: That the Policy and Organisation Board approve the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) Policy 2020 subject to the minor amendments identified. 

 

35. RISK POLICY - CROSS REFERENCE FROM THE STANDARDS AND 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

Consideration was given to a cross reference report from the Standards and Governance 
Committee recommending the Policy and Organisation Board approve the Risk Policy. In 
answer a Members question the Board was advised that a balanced approach was taken, 
and that risk could be considered as an opportunity and encourage officers to see it that 
way. 

RESOLVED: That that Policy and Organisation Board approve the Risk Policy

36. ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2019/20 

Consideration was given to a report of the Chief Internal Auditor requesting consideration 
be given to the Annual Governance Statement 2019/20.

The Board was advised that the Committee agreed the Statement in July and was required 
to be signed before the accounts were agreed. The only changes made were detailed at the 
end of the report as Governance Issues 1, 4 and 5 had now been completed. 

RESOLVED: That the Policy and Organisation Board approve the Annual Governance 
Statement 2019/20, following the approval from the Standards and Governance Committee 
on July 9th 2020.

37. ERNST & YOUNG 2019-2020 AUDIT RESULTS REPORT 

Consideration was given to a report of the Returning Officer and the Electoral Registration 
Officer advising the Board of the steps being taken in preparation for the ‘triple’ elections 
being held on Thursday, 06 May 2021 in the current Covid-19 pandemic.

Members were advised that the date in paragraph 2.6.1 needed to be amended to the 8th 
May. 

In answer to a Member’s question, the Board was advised that consideration was being 
given to the nomination process and returning officers and political parties had been written 
to with an update by the Electoral Commission. It was anticipated that political parties would 
produce their own guidance for candidates to consider when obtaining signatures for 
nomination papers. 

The Board was advised that under the Representation of the people act the Returning 
Officer already had power to make changes to polling station in emergency situations 
before an election. Members expressed concern that any late changes may not be advised 
to the electorate, however it was felt Council staff would do their best to ensure electors 
were notified at the earliest opportunity. 



Policy and Organisation Board
25 November 2020

4

In answer to a Member’s question, the Board was advised that with regard to the campaign 
material in relation to elections, there was information available online, but there would not 
be any television advertising as it was felt it was too soon to use such an approach and 
these would begin in March and April. 

The Board were advised that once the Register of Electors had been published on 01 
December 2020 the social media campaign and information about the elections would be 
used through the Council’s platforms. 

The Board was advised that with regard to staffing, the current covid safe workplace 
requirements meant there would be a need for more sessions for issuing and opening 
postal votes, and that a timetable/slot for each Electoral Ward would be published to help 
reduce the total number present in the Postal Vote venue. In addition, as this will be a triple 
election, there would be three different counts, requiring additional staff roles. 

The Board was advised that the extensions requested to emergency provision were only to 
cover the covid pandemic and once that period was over, the delegated powers would 
expire. 

Members welcomed that consideration was being given to potential issues in advance of 
the election. 

RESOLVED:
1. That the Board note the changes necessary to ensure a safe and efficient run Poll 

during the Covid-19 pandemic;
2. That the Board note that more changes and amendments may be required to the current 

planning and procedures based on national, regional or local restrictions placed on the 
Returning Officer, his appointed staff, electors, candidates, agents and observers; and 
that 

3. That authority be delegated to the Returning Officer to make changes to the Polling 
Places required for use in these and future Polls whilst the Coronavirus (Covid-19) 
pandemic response is in effect.

38. APPROVAL OF THE 2019-2020 STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

Consideration was given to a report of the Borough Treasurer summarises the outturn 
position for the 2019/20 financial year and recommends the approval of the Statement of 
Accounts for 2019/20.

The Head of Finance advised the Board of the context of the report. 

RESOLVED: 

It is recommended that:



Policy and Organisation Board
25 November 2020

5

i)    The Board note the outturn position summarised in the report and the Narrative 
Report contained in the Statement of Accounts (Appendix A)

ii)   The Board approves the Statement of Accounts for 2019/20 at
  Appendix A

iii)  The Board approve the Letter of Representation at Appendix B

iv)  The Board delegate to the Borough Treasurer in consultation with        the 
Chairman of the Policy & Organisation Board the decision to      agree any final 
changes to the financial statement arising from the completion of the audit. 

39. ANY OTHER ITEMS 

There were none. 

40. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

RESOLVED: That in relation to the following items the public be excluded from the meeting, as 
it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings, that if members of the public were present during these items there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information within Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act 1972, and further that in all circumstances of the cases, the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information, 
for the reasons set out in the report.

41. GROUNDS MAINTENANCE MACHINERY TENDER 

Consideration was given to a cross reference report from their Community Board 
recommending approval of the recommendation of the award of contracts as listed. 

CHAIRMAN

Concluded at 7.47 pm



This page is intentionally left blank



Board/Committee: POLICY & ORGANISATION BOARD
Date of Meeting:  2 FEBRUARY 2021                
Title:  CORPORATE VOLUNTEER POLICY
Author:  JULIE PETTY, HEAD OF CORPORATE POLICY & 

COMMUNITY SAFETY
Status: FOR DECISION

Purpose

The approval of a Volunteer Policy which provides a corporate framework of 
understanding, accountability and good practice for volunteers in Council 
Services. 

Recommendation

i)     That the Board approve this Corporate Volunteer Policy which 
       draws together a consistent approach on all aspects of        
       volunteer engagement within the remit of Council services and 
       projects. 

ii)    That the Board acknowledge that this policy will be underpinned 
       by guidance and templates, currently under development, for 
       service areas considering whether to involve volunteers for the 
       first time and for those with existing volunteer roles to ensure 
       consistent good practice in all aspects of dealing with volunteers.

1.0 Background

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

Volunteering is an opportunity for local residents to learn about 
and to get involved with the work of the Council and for the 
Council to tap into a valuable community resource of local 
knowledge and skills. 

Research on the benefits of volunteering has shown it can 
improve both mental and physical well-being and has the potential 
to tackle inactivity. Volunteer activity provides a network of social 
relationships that connects people in new ways and offers new 
opportunities for increased involvement and diversity within the 
Council.

Volunteers have been a valuable resource in some areas of the 
Council for many years and at least one service area has 
volunteers who have contributed their time and talents for almost 
20 years. 

This Volunteer Policy will facilitate the central sharing and 
establishment of good practice standards that support and protect 

Agenda Item 6



not only volunteers, but also the staff who supervise them and the 
Council. 

2 Report

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

This policy has been developed through extensive research of 
other local authority volunteer programmes and good practice 
guidance from national centres of expertise such as the National 
Centre for Voluntary Organisations (NCVO) and National Centre 
for Voluntary and Community Action (NAVCA) and with advice 
from the Borough’s volunteer hub, the Go Volunteer service at 
Gosport Voluntary Action. 

The views and experiences of Council staff from services already 
incorporating volunteers have also contributed to the development 
of this policy and its supporting guidance and procedures.. The 
introduction of a corporate policy and guidance on volunteers has 
been welcomed by these services.

One of the many negative impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic has 
been the cessation of volunteering opportunities within the 
Council’s services and projects since March in order to help 
safeguard the health and safety of volunteers, members of staff 
and the public we serve and comply with Government restrictions.

This enforced break from volunteer involvement has shown how 
much volunteers are valued and missed in the delivery of 
enhanced services and special projects. It provides an ideal 
opportunity for wider community engagement with volunteers by 
the Council  through a clear policy framework and guidance that 
will support services to engage with or re-engage with volunteers 
once it is safe to do so. 

3

3.1

3.2

Risk Assessment 

     This policy covers the key areas of the relationship between a 
     volunteer and the Council and the supporting  guidance 
     documents will detail the steps to be taken to ensure the fair and 
     safe placement and supervision of volunteers.

     This includes the necessary compliance with other Council 
     policies and procedures, including risk assessments for all 
     volunteer roles, the adherence to existing policies and practices 
     and the documentation required for insurance cover for volunteers 
.  

     



3.3

3.4

     To not adopt a corporate volunteer policy exposes the Council to 
     increased risk of public and financial liability and reputational 
     damage. 

     This policy and guidance will be reviewed regularly with feedback 
     from service areas engaging with volunteers and from volunteers, 
     where possible, to assess its effectiveness and need for any 
     amendments.

4.0                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 Conclusion

This policy will provide clarity and consistency in the Council’s 
engagement with volunteers, providing a corporate framework for 
service areas to explore new opportunities for involving volunteers 
in future as well as providing a framework for supporting current 
opportunities.   

Financial Services comments: none
Legal Services comments:
Climate Change: none
Crime and Disorder: none
Equality and Diversity: EIA screening form attached
Corporate Plan: Supports the strategic priorities of 

Empower our Residents and Deliver 
Effective Services

Risk Assessment: See Section 3 of report
Background papers: none
Appendices/Enclosures:

Appendix A Corporate Volunteer Policy
Appendix B Corporate Volunteer Policy EIA

Report author/ Lead Officer: Julie Petty, 02392 545381



This page is intentionally left blank



Volunteer  Policy

APPENDIX   A

Summary:
This policy provides a framework for the Council’s volunteer programme which aims to:

 define the role and value of involving volunteers within the organisation 
 ensure consistency that all volunteers are treated equally and fairly
 set out how staff and managers should recruit, place, support and supervise volunteers effectively 

to ensure the safety of customers ,volunteers, staff and others
 address how to resolve any issues that may arise 

This policy is accompanied by detailed guidance and pro forma for staff and managers to implement this 
framework 

Last Review Date January  2021

Next Review Date January 2022

Approval

Policy Owner Corporate Policy and Community Safety

Policy Author Mandy Baggaley, Principal Policy Officer, Corporate Policy & Community 
Safety

Advice & 
Guidance Please contact CPCS 

Location Infonet

Related 
Documents Supporting guidance notes and templates are under development

Scope This policy covers all volunteers providing or supporting the delivery of 
Gosport Borough Council services.

VOLUNTEER POLICY



2

[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

Corporate Volunteer Policy                      January 2021

Contents:

Subject: Page:
1.   Introduction 3
2.   Scope 3
3.   Volunteer Roles and Agreements 4
4.   Safeguarding  Volunteers and Others 5
5.   Health and Safety 5
6.   Data Protection 6
7.   Equal Opportunities 7
8.   Recruitment 7
9.   Induction and Training 8
10. Supervision and Support 9
11  Complaints, Grievances and Termination 9
12. Insurance and Liability 9
13. Expenses 10
 

Gosport Borough Council is committed to equal opportunities for all.

If you need this document in large print, on CD, in Braille or in another 
language, please ask.



3

[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

Corporate Volunteer Policy                      January 2021

1. INTRODUCTION
 
1.1. Gosport Borough Council recognises the unique and valuable contributions 

made by volunteers to our Borough, supporting our communities and 
making a positive impact on social, economic, cultural and environmental 
issues.

1.2. The Council seeks to promote the importance and benefits of volunteering 
within its services and projects to enhance and extend the range and quality 
of them. Volunteering provides a community engagement opportunity for 
local residents to learn about and to participate in the work of the Council 
and to develop and contribute their knowledge and skills. Local people hold  
the  insight  and  knowledge  of  local  issues  which assists the Council in 
better understanding the needs of the community it services and 
responding to them.

1.3. Volunteering can improve both mental and physical well-being and has the 
potential to tackle inactivity. Volunteer activity provides a network of social 
relationships that connect people and offers new opportunities for increased 
involvement and diversity within the organisation.  There are many benefits 
to involving volunteers from a variety of backgrounds and cultures, their 
expertise complementing the skills of staff in council led projects and 
engaging with local people. 

1.4. Definition of Volunteering - Volunteering is defined as any activity that 
involves spending time, unpaid, doing something that aims to benefit the 
environment or someone (individuals or groups) other than, or in addition to 
close relatives. Central to this definition is the fact that volunteering must be 
a choice freely made by each individual. This can include formal activity 
undertaken through public, private and voluntary organisations as well as 
informal community participation (Volunteering England definition). 

2.           SCOPE

2.1         This policy applies to volunteers engaged in supporting the delivery of the
              Council’s services and projects.  Where an independent organisation is 
              managing volunteers  wanting to be engaged in supporting the Council, 
              it must abide by the requirements of this policy and have equivalent 
              procedures in place. The relevant service of the Council will need 
              to ensure these are in place before the organisation/ group can volunteer 
              their services.

2.2         This policy does not apply to: work experience, apprenticeships and 
              student placements. It also does not apply to consultation groups and 
              partnership boards which may include the participation of service users and 
              local residents 

  



4

[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

Corporate Volunteer Policy                      January 2021

              

3.          VOLUNTEER ROLES AND AGREEMENTS

3.1         Volunteer role descriptions and agreements can help both parties to clarify 
              intentions and expectations. Service areas wishing to engage volunteers 
              must first give careful consideration to the specific roles within that service 
              where volunteers can enhance and extend their service but not replicate or 
              replace the work of paid staff. 

3.2         Role descriptions are essential to ensure both prospective 
              volunteers and the council service  involved  have a clear understanding of 
              what each can expect from the other. Role description must include details  
              of the tasks, responsibilities, qualities, skills or experience  desired or  
              required, training required in the use of tools and equipment, support 
              included and service contact details for more information. 

3.3         All volunteer role descriptions must be approved by the Section Head or 
              Service Manager and be registered centrally with Corporate Policy & 
              Community Safety team using the corporate Volunteer Role Description 
              template.

3.4         Anyone approaching the Council about its volunteer opportunities should be 
              referred to the Council’s webpage to see the list of volunteer roles available 
              and obtain a GBC Volunteer Application form to return to the contact person 
              listed on the role description. For those not having internet access, they can 
              still telephone or write to the Council for this information.   

3.5         Volunteer applications should be reviewed by the appropriate service area 
              and applicants meeting the requirements should be invited to an interview.      
              Any person not suitable for the volunteering role they have applied for 
              should be given an explanation why and advised of other opportunities 
              available within the Council, if appropriate, or referred to the Go Volunteer 
              service administered by Gosport Voluntary Action for information on  
              volunteer opportunities across the Borough.

3.6         Contractual language or expectations must not be included in volunteer 
              roles and agreements. The arrangement is completely voluntary on both 
              sides and is not legally binding on either side.

3.7         No training can be offered with the proviso that the volunteer must work a 
              minimum amount of hours for the organisation.  Volunteers cannot be 
              offered recompense such as training or a job offer in return for his or her 
              time.

3.8          A Council Volunteer Agreement template is available to adapt to each 
              volunteering role. 



5

[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

Corporate Volunteer Policy                      January 2021

4.            SAFEGUARDING VOLUNTEERS AND OTHERS
  

4.1         Safeguarding is about protecting children, young people and vulnerable  
              adults from harm and must be included in all consideration of involving 
              volunteers within Council services.  The Council has a statutory 
              duty to ensure the safety of children, young people and vulnerable adults 
              and this extends to the roles and activities of all volunteers undertaking 
              duties on behalf of the Council.
  
4.2         The Council also has a statutory obligation to ensure it is suitably  
              checking,  vetting  and  training  its volunteers who may be in positions of 
              trust or come into contact with children, young people and vulnerable adults. 
              Volunteers must also be aware of this duty and have received safeguarding 
              induction training appropriate to their role. Any volunteer coming into 
              contact with children, young people or vulnerable adults as part of their 
              volunteering role, must receive safeguarding awareness induction and be 
              given the Council’s Safeguarding Children and Adults Policy and guidance 
              to understand how to raise a safeguarding query or concern with their 
              supervisor or any Council officer. 

4.3         All managers intending to work with volunteers must consider the  
              volunteer roles within  the context of safeguarding and should consult the 
              Safeguarding Officer if in any doubt about the safeguarding requirements of 
              any volunteer role.
 
4.4         It must be established whether vetting through the Disclosure and Barring 
              Service (DBS) is required and if so, at what level, before volunteer roles are 
              approved and advertised. Applicants for volunteer roles where a DBS check 
              is required must be informed of that requirement.  DBS checks will be  
              carried  out  on  any  volunteer  who  in  the  course  of  their  activity  has  
              regular, unsupervised, contact with children,  young people or vulnerable 
              adults.  

4.5         Young people under 18 years old may be considered for volunteer roles if 
              the role descriptions have been risk assessed and approved as              
              appropriate to their age, where parental consent for the young person to 
              volunteer has been obtained and the Council has in place direct 
              supervision by DBS checked staff trained in safeguarding of any volunteer 
              in one-to one contact with children, young  persons, or vulnerable adults.   
              All role descriptions must specify whether or not they are suitable for 
              anyone under 18 years old.

5.           HEALTH AND SAFETY

5.1         The Council has a duty of care to avoid exposing volunteers to health 
              and safety risks. All volunteers will be made aware of Health and  
              Safety procedures and any practical safety concerns relevant to their 
              volunteer role as part of their induction.  

5.2.        All volunteer roles will be risk assessed, by the service areas responsible for 



6

[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

Corporate Volunteer Policy                      January 2021

              them, covering both the tasks involved and the environment in which they  
              will be conducted. In addition, where a volunteer states they have a pre-  
              existing medical condition or disability, an individual risk assessment may  
              also be necessary. Where applicable, adequate Personal Protective  
              Equipment (PPE), and specific instruction on the use of hand tools, 
              equipment, machinery and vehicles must be provided and evidenced by 
              their supervisor . 

5.3         Volunteers will be expected to recognise that they are also responsible for 
              their own Health and Safety and that of those around them.  Volunteers will 
              be expected to carry out duties without  endangering either their own Health 
              and Safety or that of staff, other volunteers or the  general  public.   Before 
              undertaking any activities,  every  volunteer  should consider  the  particular  
              health and safety hazards  associated  with the site/task  and  whether  
              their individual circumstances and medical conditions expose them to 
              particular hazards.
 
5.4         Any accidents or serious injuries must be reported by the volunteer   
              to the Council  through their supervisor and recorded the appropriate 
              forms. 

6.           DATA PROTECTION AND CONFIDENTIALITY

6.1         The expectation is that in the majority of volunteering opportunities, there 
              should not be the need for volunteers to handle sensitive personal data or 
              confidential material. If there is any need, this should be specified in the role 
              description and the Council will expect the volunteer to maintain 
              confidentiality. 

6.2         Data Protection Act 2018 and the EU General Data Protection Regulation  
              2016/679 (Data Protection legislation) refers to the holding of information. It 
              gives people the right to know what information is held about them, and sets 
              out rules to make sure that this information is handled properly. Supervisors  
              should  alert  volunteers  to  their  responsibilities,  where  necessary, under  
              data protection during induction. 

6.3         Volunteers should regard all information they have access to, or are  
              given as a result of their volunteering, as being restricted unless advised 
              otherwise. No information should be released to a third party without  
              first seeking the agreement of their supervisor.  Where an information  
              sharing protocol has been entered into  by the Council,  volunteers must 
              not disclose personal details (home address, telephone number etc) to 
              customers, but should use their business address when an address has to 
              be given relating to living persons, which can include both staff and 
              volunteers. 

6.4. All Council staff handling or accessing the personal data of volunteers must 
               comply with the Council’s data protection procedures.  

6.5. Volunteers should be supplied with the following information to ensure that 
               they are aware of their responsibilities under the data protection legislation. 



7

[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

Corporate Volunteer Policy                      January 2021

 Privacy Notice for Volunteers.  
 Data Protection Policy

 

7.            EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES 

7.1         The Council is firmly committed to equal opportunities and values equality    
              and diversity in all areas of its work. This commitment includes the 
              involvement of volunteers, in developing and maintaining an organisation in 
              which differing ideas, abilities, backgrounds and experiences are fostered 
              and valued, and where those with diverse backgrounds and experiences #   
              are able to participate and contribute.

7.2         The  council  is  required  to  comply  with  the  Equality  Act  2010  and the  
              Public  Sector  Equality  Duty (PSED) in the discharge of its functions.  The  
              Councils’ Statement of Commitment to Equality and Diversity offers 
              opportunities for the council to discharge its equality duties in:

 Preventing discrimination, harassment, victimization and any other  
conduct prohibited by the Act;

 Advancing  equality  of opportunity between people who share a   
protected characteristic and those who do not;

 Fostering  good  relations  between  people  who  share  a  protected 
characteristic and those that do not 

7.3         Volunteering offers opportunities for a range of different people to work 
              together to improve their community, gain and share experience, reduce 
              loneliness and isolation, build confidence and foster good relations.    
              Volunteering may also offer individuals the chance to participate in  
              public  life  where participation is disproportionately low and develop 
              experience that can contribute to their Curriculum Vitae and help in gaining 
              future employment.

7.4         Volunteers of all backgrounds (subject to the age provisions of Sections 4) 
              are welcomed.  However, there may be some situations, for reasons of      
              health and safety, physical or some other requirement where  some   
              volunteering  opportunities re not suitable for all volunteers. Each 
              opportunity will be risk and equality assessed so that any exclusions are 
              adequately explained and evidenced.

7.5         All are required to adhere to the council’s Statement of Commitment to 
              Equality and Diversity when undertaking volunteer roles on behalf of the 
              Council.  Any volunteer conducting themselves in contravention of this 
              Commitment, i.e discriminating against, victimising or harassing a person 
              or group on the basis of a protected characteristic will be  subject to 
              dismissal from their volunteer role as detailed in Section 11. 

8.           RECRUITMENT

8.1         The Council will maintain an updated central register of its volunteering    



8

[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

Corporate Volunteer Policy                      January 2021

              Roles. All volunteer roles in need of volunteers will be posted on a 
              dedicated Council webpage and be advertised on the Go Volunteer 
              database managed by Gosport Voluntary Action. Any volunteers registered 
              for that service can access the Council volunteer opportunities and contact 
              the service officer supervising each role. 

8.2         As per sections 3.4 and 3.5 Service areas will be responsible for reviewing 
              and responding to the applications received for the volunteer roles they 
              have registered. A new volunteer role can be created around the specific 
              skills and experience of a prospective volunteer if the role  will enhance or 
              extend the range of that service and not duplicate or replace the work of a 
              paid or formerly paid Council position. Any new volunteer roles created 
              must be approved by the Section Head or Service Manager and be centrally   
              registered. 

8.3         European Union (EU) nationals will still be able to volunteer in the UK after 
              the UK has left the EU if they have one of the following:

 Settled or pre-settled status
 A visa which doesn’t prevent them from volunteering
 Enrolment in any EU funded volunteering programme with a 

placement in the UK, such as Erasmus + or the European Solidarity 
Corps.

8.4          Asylum seekers have been able to volunteer for registered charities, other 
               voluntary organisations or organisations that raise funds for them, but this 
               has now been extended to include volunteering for public sector bodies. 
               The rules are the same as for voluntary sector volunteering: the volunteer 
               must receive no payment other than reimbursement for genuine 
               expenditure on fares or meals during volunteering; there must be no 
               arrangements between the organisation and individual that would create a 
               contractually binding obligation on the volunteer; the volunteer must 
               provide a service for the organisation; and the volunteering must not be for              
               a role that would normally be filled by a paid worker. 

8.5          The Home Office has said that volunteering by refused asylum seekers is 
               lawful, but that the government does not support their volunteering; it 
               expects them to return to their home country, and volunteering will not 
               delay their removal from the UK.

  
9.            INDUCTION AND TRAINING

9.1         Induction and training are key elements to the success of any programme. 
              Volunteers must feel welcome and accepted at all times. Their needs must 
              be addressed in consideration of the resources available. Volunteers should 
              be provided with all the information, training and support they need to 
              carry out their role. A corporate Volunteer Handbook template will allow 
              service areas to customise induction information relevant to  their volunteer 
              roles.

9.2         Training and support must be specifically tailored to each role description 



9

[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

Corporate Volunteer Policy                      January 2021

              and include instruction on the safe use of any tools, equipment, machinery 
              or vehicles required in the role description. This must be checked and 
              evidenced by the volunteer supervisor. 

9.3         The induction programme for each role must be reviewed regularly with 
              feedback sought from participating volunteers. A trial period may be set, if 
              the volunteer or supervisor is unsure of the volunteer’s suitability for the     
              role. 

10.         SUPERVISION AND SUPPORT

10.1       Every volunteer must have a named officer to serve as their main point of 
              contact and supervisor during their placement. The supervisor will be 
              responsible for arranging any training, resources or equipment needed to 
              fulfil agreed tasks, providing advice, guidance and opportunities for 
              volunteers to feedback and ensuring out of pocket expenses are paid 
              promptly.

10.2       Supervisors must meet regularly with their volunteers to discuss their 
              placement, development opportunities or any problems or issues that may 
              arise. Up-to-date records must be maintained for each volunteer to record 
              that necessary checks, induction and training have been completed 
              according to the supporting guidance accompanying this policy.

11.          COMPLAINTS , GRIEVANCES AND DISMISSAL

11.1       It is important that volunteers enjoy and feel valued in contributing 
              their time and talents. The relationship between the Council and its 
              volunteers is entirely voluntary and does not include or imply any 
              contractual obligation. However, it is essential that the Council is able to 
              maintain its agreed standards of service to its customers in all areas where 
              volunteers are engaged. This may include expectations for reporting of    
              absence, notice of leaving the volunteer role, etc.
.
11.2       Complaints by volunteers should be raised in the first instance with  
              their supervisor to discuss and resolve. The complaint will be investigated  
              fully by their supervisor,  or if the complaint is against their own supervisor, 
              by another supervisor or their line manager. 

11.3       If a complaint brought against a volunteer, this will be investigated by their 
              supervisor. Every attempt will be made to resolve the matter as quickly as 
              possible.  If the issue cannot be satisfactorily resolved, then the  volunteer  
              may be advised their services are no longer required with immediate effect.

11.4       If a volunteer’s conduct is equivalent to gross misconduct, their services will 
              be terminated immediately and relevant authorities informed if there is any 
              illegal activity. At all times, the volunteer will be able to freely state their 
              case and can have a friend to accompany them at all times in the process. 



10

[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

Corporate Volunteer Policy                      January 2021

12.         INSURANCE LIABILITY

12.1       Volunteers operating on behalf of the Council and in accordance to this        
              policy and its guidance are covered under its public liability policy. This 
              policy provides cover for volunteers against loss or injury caused by 
              negligence on the part of the Council.  It also protects the public against  
              loss, injury or damage to property caused  by the negligence of anyone 
              acting on behalf of the Council, including volunteers.
 
12.2       However, the Council will require recognised independent organisations/ 
              groups which are volunteering on behalf of the Council to  hold  their own 
              Public Liability insurance. 

12.3       Council volunteers using their own vehicles while volunteering for the 
              Council have the responsibility to ensure that they hold; adequate  
              insurance cover  i.e.  business use cover,  hold a valid full UK driving 
              licence, the vehicle is taxed, has a current MOT certificate  
              (unless the  vehicle  is less than three years old), the vehicle is              
              serviced  and  is  maintained  to  meet  statutory  legal  requirements. The     
              volunteer supervisor must check and record this documentation. 

12.4       As stated in Section 3.2 and 5.2, specific instruction on the safe use of any 
              Council tools, equipment, machinery or vehicles relevant to each role must 
              be provided and completion evidenced as part of the induction process and 
              then be reviewed, updated and rechecked as appropriate to that role.    

12.5       Supervisors should advise volunteers about where they should store any 
              personal belongings while volunteering as part of their induction, but  all  
              volunteers  are  responsible  for  the  care  of  their  personal  belongings.  
              The Council cannot be responsible nor accept liability for any loss of or 
              damage to a volunteers belongings.

13.          EXPENSES 

13.1        Refunding volunteer costs is a legitimate cost associated with any 
               volunteer programme or project. The Council will reimburse any agreed out 
               of pocket expenses that the volunteer has paid themselves to make sure 
               that volunteering is accessible to all, regardless of income.

13.2       It is important that volunteers are paid actual out-of-pocket expenses only, 
              in reference to National Minimum Wage Act legislation and in line with 
              Government recommendations. If anything other than out-of-pocket 
              expenses is paid then this would also have legal, tax and national insurance 
              implications. 

13.3       Expenses must be approved by a supervisor prior to any claim being made. 
              Records must be kept of any reimbursements made and should include the 
              necessary receipts to justify the need to claim. The Council reserves the 
              right to refuse an incomplete claim or defer until resolution. 



11

[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

Corporate Volunteer Policy                      January 2021

13.4        All records supporting expenses claims, such as receipts, claim forms and 
               insurance policies, will be subject to examination from time to time by 
               internal audit. All claims must be submitted using the Volunteer Expenses 
               Form which includes information about current subsistence and mileage 
               rates for vehicles and bicycles.

13.5        Volunteers should not be encouraged to use their own vehicle while 
               volunteering unless necessary and must comply with the requirements set 
               out in Section 12.3 
        
13.6        Mileage can only be claimed in respect of journeys actually incurred: no 
               claim can be made for estimated mileage. As a general rule, the mileage to 
               be claimed will be that actually incurred on the approved journey, provided 
               that the most reasonable route was taken.

13.7        Mileage for use of a vehicle for volunteering activity is based on the 
               allowance rates currently in operation for vehicle type and size as set out 
               by the HMRC and in line with GBC mileage rates. Volunteers must keep 
               proper mileage records and in most cases the volunteers should notify their 
               supervisor of the impending journey. 

13.8        The Motoring policy applies equally to volunteers and staff who carry out 
               any journey in a motor vehicle regardless of if they claim mileage allowance 
               or not.  

                                                                                                  



12

[Policy Title – Version Number]
[Policy Title – Version Number]

Corporate Volunteer Policy                      January 2021

 



                                                                                                                                                                                                 APPENDIX B

1

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT
Screening Assessment Form 

Name of policy___/strategy___/function___ being assessed. Please  what it is.
Corporate Volunteer Policy
1. Is this policy, strategy or function new ___ or an existing___ one? Please  what it is.

1a.  Briefly describe the reasons for developing or reviewing this?
Eg: change in legislation or requirements, results of consultation, part of a regular review cycle, etc.

While some service areas of the Council have involved volunteers for many years, there has never been until now a Council-wide policy
2a. Describe the main aim or purpose of this item? Who will it benefit? Why is it needed?

This policy provides a framework for the Council’s volunteer programme which aims to:
 define the role and value of involving volunteers within the organisation 
 ensure consistency that all volunteers are treated equally and fairly
 set out how paid staff and managers should recruit, place, support and supervise volunteers effectively to ensure the safety of customers 

,volunteers, staff and others
 address how to resolve any issues that may arise 

This policy will be accompanied by detailed guidance and pro forma for paid staff and managers to implement this framework



                                                                                                                                                                                                 APPENDIX B

2

3a. The Public Sector Equality Duty is part of the Equality Act 2010. The Duty requires the Council to have due regard to the 
following three aims:  

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation;
 advance equal opportunities between people from different groups
 foster good relations between people from different groups.  

Having due regard means considering how this policy, strategy or function has or will advance equal opportunities for each of 
the protected groups below.   



                                                                                                                                                                                                 APPENDIX B

3

3b  Identify how this item demonstrates due regard to the three aims above  for each of the protected groups below. 
 (For marriage and civil partnership, legislation requires  you only need to demonstrate how you would eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation)
Protected 
characteristic

This item demonstrates due regard 
by:

Describe any negative 
impact or potentially 
negative impact of this item 
for any group.  

  List data sources/ evidence 
used to assess impact and 
whether this item furthers 
the aims of the Equality 
Duty. 

Age

There is no upper age limit on volunteers 
who can apply for volunteering 
opportunities within the Council

Not all volunteer roles may be 
suitable for persons under the 
age of 18 due to enhanced 
safeguarding concerns. The 
policy sets out guidance on the 
involvement of volunteers 16-
17 years old and the additional 
checks that may be required in 
compliance with the Council’s 
Safeguarding Children and 
Adults Policy and guidance. 

Disability
The policy requires all volunteer roles to 
have an accompanying detailed role 
description, advising on the specific 
tasks, essential abilities, training 
required to undertake the role. This 
provides clear and accurate information 
for prospective applicants to assess if 
they can meet the essential 

Not all volunteer roles in the 
Council may be suitable for all 
applicants, but applicants can 
be signposted to other 
opportunities within the Council 
or registered with the Go 
Volunteer centre at GVA. 

Volunteer and staff under this 
policy are required to adhere to 
the Council’s existing policies 
and practices including the 
Council’s:

 Statement of 
commitment to equality 
and diversity

 Equal opportunities
 Health and safety
 Confidentiality and data 

protection 
 Insurance and liability
 Risk assessments

Good practice guidance in 
development of this policy 
was sought from national 
centres for volunteering 



                                                                                                                                                                                                 APPENDIX B

4

requirements of the role. Volunteers 
must state any disability and or medical 
condition that should be taken into 
consideration for their suitability for the 
role. A trial period may be arranged by 
mutual agreement if the volunteer and or 
supervisor is unsure the volunteer can 
meet the requirements of that particular 
role. 

Gender 
reassignment

None identified

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership

None identified

Pregnancy 
and Maternity

As above under disability, any volunteer 
applicant who is pregnant  or is already 
in placement should discuss any health 
concerns or limitations due to  her 
condition in assessment of their ability to 
safely meet the requirements of  that 
role or in the return to a volunteer role 
after giving birth.   

Race (ethnic or  
national origin, 
colour, nationality)

None identified

Religion or Belief None identified

expertise such as the 
National Association of 
Voluntary Organisations  
(NCVO) and National 
Association for Voluntary 
and Community Action 
(NAVCA) and  Gosport 
Voluntary Action’s Go 
Volunteer Service. Other 
local authority volunteer 
policies and practices were 
also reviewed.  



                                                                                                                                                                                                 APPENDIX B

5

(and lack of belief)
Sex None identified
Sexual Orientation None  identified

3c. Are there any other groups in addition to those above which could be impacted (e.g. socially or financially excluded) 
by this item?
Please   ___yes   ___ no



                                                                                                                                                                                                 APPENDIX B

6

5. Do you have any additional comments? If so, please add.

6. Date of screening 13-01-21 Officer(s) completing assessment Mandy 
Baggaley

Section Date Approved 14-01-21

Group This item demonstrates due regard by:
 

Describe any negative impact or potentially 
negative impact of this item for any group List data sources/ 

evidence used to assess 
impact and whether this 
item furthers the aims of 
the Equality Duty

Financially 
excluded

The policy provides for reimbursement of direct 
out of pocket expenses and the  free provision 
of any tools, equipment and training to 
volunteers relevant to the roles they undertake.

         The Policy and guidance 
documents

4. Please Identify any further actions you will take resulting from this assessment. 

Action Officer Responsible Completion date
Annual review of the policy and guidance 
with feedback from service units and 
volunteers to determine if amendments are 
needed. 

Mandy Baggaley March 2022



                                                                                                                                                                                                 APPENDIX B

7

7. Name of Section Head Julie Petty
8. Date submitted to E &D lead 
officer

14-01-21

EDSG Recommendation:

 This assessment form is incomplete and requires additional information for its review by EDSG.
_________________________________________________________________________________

This assessment has been successfully reviewed  with the following outcome:

      No major change – The assessment of this policy/strategy/function shows no potential for discrimination and the aims of
         the Equality Duty have been met. Regular review of the policy should be made to ensure this remains so.

 Adjust the policy/strategy or function – This item will meet the aims of the Equality Duty if actions identified in Sections 3 and 4 to 
remove barriers or to better advance equality are implemented.

      Continue the policy/strategy/function – There is some potential for adverse impact or missed opportunities to promote equality, 
          but no unlawful discrimination has been identified. Ensure effective equality monitoring is in place to regularly assess the actual  
          impact on different groups  

      Stop and Rethink – Adverse equality impacts have been identified/ may not be justified and have not been sufficiently mitigated.  
         Unlawful discrimination could be taking place. Do not adopt or continue until a full equality investigation has been completed.
          



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Board/Committee: P & O Board
Date of meeting: 2nd February 2021
Title: COVID-19 Government Help for Business Rate Payers and 

Council Tax Payers
Author: Margaret Gibbins 
Status: FOR NOTING

Purpose
The purpose of this report to update members on business grants, business rates reliefs and council tax support payments for 
taxpayers on low incomes that have been given as part of The Governments response to the Coronavirus pandemic where Urgent 
Decisions taken under Paragraph 3.7 Part 3 Schedule 10 of the GBC Constitution have been taken.

1.0 Background

1.1  Since March 2020, the Government has announced a number of packages to support businesses and residents which are 
administered by Local Authorities.  The purpose of this report to update members on these measures and Urgent Decisions taken 
under Paragraph 3.7 Part 3 Schedule 10 of the GBC Constitution.

1.2  Business Rates Reliefs in March 2020 Extended Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Relief and Nursery Discount were announced

1.3  There have been 11 different Business Grants announced since March 2020 for Local Authorities to administer:

 Small Business and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grants -  National Restrictions
 Local Discretionary Grant – National Restrictions
 Local Restrictions Support Grant (Closed) (Addendum) National Restrictions
 Local Restrictions Support Grant (Closed) Tier Restrictions
 Local Restrictions Support Grant (Open) Tier Restrictions

A
genda Item

 7



 Additional Restrictions Grant – National and Tier Restrictions
 Christmas Support Payment Wet-Led Pubs – one off payment
 Local Restrictions Support Grant (Closed)(Addendum) Tier 4
 Local Restrictions Support Grant (Closed) (Addendum) National Restrictions
 Closed Businesses Lockdown Payment – one off payment

1.4   Council Tax Hardship Fund to pay an additional £150.00 to Council Tax Payers in receipt of Local Council Tax Support

2.0   Report

2.1 Business Rate Reliefs 

 Extended Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Relief. – Policy was taken to P& O Board on 16th March 2020, Officers were 
authorised to make amendments as further guidance was issued.  Please see Appendices A and B

 Nursery Discount – Formal notification was received on 20th March 2020 for a new one year relief to give 100% rate relief to 
early year’s providers.  Please see Appendices B and C

2.2  Business Grants 

During the first National Lockdown period three grant schemes were available to businesses that were rate payers and non-rate 
payers. The Small Business and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grants and the Local Discretionary Grant. These ceased to be 
available for new applications on 28th August 2020.

 Small Business Grant – Government Scheme for business ratepayers, with a rateable value under £15,000 and in receipt 
of small business rate relief on 11th March 2020.  Please refer to Appendix D

 Retail Hospitality and Leisure Grant – Government Scheme for business ratepayers with a Rateable Value under 
£51,000 and in receipt of Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Relief. Qualifying date 11th March 2020.  Two levels of grant - 
£10,000 for Rateable Values under £15,000 and £25,000 for Rateable Values between £15,000 and less than £51,000. 
Please refer to Appendix D



 Local Discretionary Grant – Local Scheme for rated and non-rated businesses. This policy was taken to the P&O board 
meeting on 10th June 2020   This grant scheme was closed on 28th August 2020. 

2.3  Local Restriction Support Grants – Since 1st November 2020 a number of new grants have been made available by the 
Government for Gosport businesses, both rated and non-rated businesses.   (Although Gosport was in Tier 3 on 19th December 
2020 for the purpose of grant payments the Government has advised that is to be treated as the first day of Tier 4)

LRSG Open and Additional Restriction Grant (ARG) are discretionary schemes that Urgent Decisions have been taken under 
Paragraph 3.7 Part 3 Schedule 10 of the GBC Constitution.

2.4 Local Restriction Support Grant (Open) – Is a grant for businesses which have not had to close but are financially severely 
impacted as a result of local tier 2 and 3 restrictions.

  Local Authorities were asked to prioritise hospitality, hotel, bed and breakfast and leisure businesses. In response to the 
direction set by BEIS, Gosport Borough Council's Local Restriction Support Grant (Open) will be available to ratepayers in 
the hospitality and leisure sector. 

 Where a business is not subject to business rates, or if a ratepayer is outside of these sectors, an application may be 
considered under the council's Additional Restrictions Support Grant

 Available to restaurants cafes drinking establishments cinemas and live music venues and broadly similar
 Available for Assembly and Leisure such as gyms, museums, public halls, clubhouses and broadly similar
 Available to hotel, guest and boarding premises and self-catering accommodation and broadly similar
 Gosport Borough Council have determined that it is reasonable to accept that ratepayers in the hospitality and leisure sector 

have been severely impacted by local restrictions on socialising. Examples include no mixing of households, 
bar/pub/restaurant restrictions, and the requirement for social distancing measures.    Please refer to Appendix E for further 
details

2.5  Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG) – Government has provided Local Authorities with a set amount of funding to support 
local businesses during the financial years 2020/21 and 2021/2022.   Gosport Borough Council has received a total of £2,450,380     
Please refer to Appendix F for full details of the scheme.   The discretionary schemes key features are:



 Financial support is for the period of restrictions only
 Financial support to cover unavoidable fixed costs – not to duplicate other support for staff e.g.furlough and SEISS
 Not available as a wage supplement
 Designed primarily for Non Business Rate Payers
 Broad eligilblity criteria – “Any business severely affected”
 Not intended to mirror LRSG (Open) Scheme operating under Government guidance which has wide variations of 

Rateable Value bands and narrow definition of severely impacted
 Consistency on maximum awards across this and the other LRSG schemes
 Scheme to with reviewed periodically to prevent overspend on allocated funding and changing circumstances as 

pandemic evolves.
 Payment Scale

ARG Payment Scale
Reduction in Turnover Proportion of Fixed Costs

33%-40% 60%
41%-50% 75%
51%-60% 90%
61%-70% 105%
71%-80% 120%
81%-90% 135%

91%-100% 150%



2.5  Summaries of the LRSG and ARG schemes for Gosport are shown below:

Date Schemes 
Available

LRSG
Sector

LRSG
Closed 

Addendum

LRSG 
Closed 

Addendum 
Tier 4

LRSG
Closed

Addendum 
January

LRSG
Closed

LRSG
Open

ARG Christmas 
Support 
Payment wet 
led Pubs

Closed 
Business 
Lockdown 
Payment

1 Nov – 4 Nov
Tier 1

Yes No No No No No No No No

5 Nov -1 Dec
National

No Yes No No No No Yes No No

2 Dec – 18 
Dec

Tier 2

Yes No No No Yes Yes Yes Yes No

19 Dec – 29 
Dec

Tier 4

No No Yes No No No Yes Yes No

30 Dec – 4 
Jan

Tier 4

No No Yes No No No Yes No No

5 Jan – 15th 
February

No No No Yes No No Yes No Yes
Application 

Required
Yes Yes Yes No – paid 

automatically 
with LRSG 

Closed 
Addendum Tier 

4

Yes Yes Yes Yes No – paid 
automatically 
with LRSG 

Closed 
Addendum 

Tier 4
Scheme End 

Date for 
applications 

TBC TBC TBC 31/03/21 TBC TBC 31/03/22 or 
funding runs 

out

TBC 30/04/21

Payment 
Information

Every 
14 days

One off 
payment

One off 
payment for 

17 days

One off 
payment for 42 

days

One off 
payment for 

17 days

One off 
payment 

for 17 days

 One off 
payments 
per 
application

One off 
Payment

One off 
Payment

Amounts £667
£1000
£1500

£1334
£2000
£3000

£809.93
£1214.29
£1821.43

£2001
£3000
£4500

£809.93
£1214.29
£1821.43

£567.07
£850.00

£1275.00

£400 to 
£3000 on a 
sliding scale

£1000 £4000
£6000
£9000



PERIOD OF NATIONAL RESTRICTIONS - 5th November to 1st December

Time Period Business Rate Payer Non Business Rate Payer
 
 Closed Open Closed Open

Payments - National Restrictions (28 Days) Government Scheme Discretionary Scheme Discretionary Scheme Discretionary Scheme
LRG (Closed)(Addendum) ARG ARG ARG

RV <=15,000 1,334
RV >15,000<51,000 2,000
RV >51,000 3,000

Funding Based on Fixed 
Costs and Extent of 

Income Loss

Funding Based on 
Fixed Costs and Extent 

of Income Loss

Funding Based on 
Fixed Costs and Extent 

of Income Loss

Criteria Govt. Eligibility Criteria Local Eligibility Criteria Local Eligibility 
Criteria

Local Eligibility 
Criteria

Eligibility Forced to close by law Severely Impacted Forced to close by law Severely Impacted

Severely Impacted Fully Closed
Any business with 

reduction in income of > 
33%

Any business with 
reduction in income of 

> 33% (See Below)

Any business with 
reduction in income of 

> 33% (See Below)

Maximum Award Capped at £3,000 Capped at £2,100 Capped at £3,000 Capped at £2,100
Minimum Award Minimum £1,334 Minimum £400 Minimum £400 Minimum £400



PERIOD OF TIER RESTRICTIONS - From 2nd December to 18th December 

Time Period Business Rate Payer Non Business Rate Payer
 
 Closed Open Closed Open

Government Scheme Discretionary Scheme Discretionary Scheme Discretionary Scheme

Payments - Tier 2 (14 Days) LRG (Closed) LRG (Open) ARG ARG

RV <=15,000 667 467

RV >15,000<51,000 1000 700
RV >51,000 1500 1050

Funding Based on 
Fixed Costs and Extent 

of Income Loss

Funding Based on 
Fixed Costs and Extent 

of Income Loss

Criteria Govt. Eligibility Criteria Local Eligibility Criteria
Local Eligibility 

Criteria
Local Eligibility 

Criteria
Eligibility Forced to close by law Severely Impacted Forced to close by law Severely Impacted

Severely Impacted Fully Closed Hospitality & Leisure & 
Supply Chain

Any business with 
reduction in income of 

> 33% (See Below)

Any business with 
reduction in income of 

> 33% (See Below)
Maximum Award Capped at £1,500 Capped at £1,050 Capped at £1,500 Capped at £1,050
Minimum Award Minimum £667 Minimum £467 Minimum £200 Minimum £200

 

Christmas Support for Wet-Led Pubs – one off payment of £1000 to ratepayer



PERIOD OF NATIONAL RESTRICTIONS - 5th January 2021

Time Period Business Rate Payer Non Business Rate Payer
 
 Closed Open Closed Open

Payments - National Restrictions (42 Days) Government Scheme Discretionary Scheme Discretionary Scheme Discretionary Scheme
LRG (Closed)(January) ARG ARG ARG

RV <=15,000 2001
RV >15,000<51,000 3000
RV >51,000 4500

Funding Based on Fixed 
Costs and Extent of 

Income Loss

Funding Based on 
Fixed Costs and Extent 

of Income Loss

Funding Based on 
Fixed Costs and Extent 

of Income Loss

Criteria Govt. Eligibility Criteria Local Eligibility Criteria Local Eligibility 
Criteria

Local Eligibility 
Criteria

Eligibility Forced to close by law Severely Impacted Forced to close by law Severely Impacted

Severely Impacted Fully Closed
Any business with 

reduction in income of > 
33%

Any business with 
reduction in income of 

> 33% (See Below)

Any business with 
reduction in income of 

> 33% (See Below)

Maximum Award Capped at £4500 Capped at £2,100 per 28 
days

Capped at £3,000 per 
28 days

Capped at £2,100 per 
28 days

Minimum Award Minimum £2001 Minimum £400 per 28 
days

Minimum £400 per 28 
days

Minimum £400 per 28 
days

One off Payment for ratepayer of business mandated to close – Closed Business Lockdown Payment, levels based RV<=15,000 
£4000,   RV>15,000<51,000 £6000 and RV>51,000 £9000.



2.6  Council Tax Hardship Fund – In March 2020, the Government announced that funding would be provided to enable Local 
Authorities to reduce council tax by up to £150.00 for working age Local Council Tax Support (LCTS) claimants.  Gosport 
Borough council received £565,286. 

Section 13A in the Local Government Finance Act 1992, inserted by the Local Government Act 2012 (13A (1) (c)) allows 
Councils to reduce the amount of council tax payable. The policy has been amended to allow payment of the Council Tax 
Hardship Fund in accordance with the guidance issued.  Please refer to Appendix G
 

3.0 Financial Implications

3.1 For majority of schemes, money paid out is funded in full by Government.  The Council has been allocated a set amount in 
respect of the ARG discretionary scheme which is to provide support until 31st March 2022.  Any overspend will be for Gosport 
Borough Council to fund.  Therefore to mitigate the risk of overspending, the discretionary scheme will be reviewed on a regular 
basis.

3.2 Council Tax Hardship Fund – The Council has been allocated a set amount. Any overspend will fall to the Council to fund. 
Regular reviews of spend to-date are well within the funding provided.

4.0 Conclusion

4.1 Gosport has been able to provide extra support to Local Businesses through the additional funding provided by Government to 
support our local economy and has so far (as at 18th January 2021) paid 2350 business grants totaling £15,351,755 and 422 
local ratepayers have also received £6,792,796 business rates relief for the Expanded Retail, Hospitality, Leisure and Nursery 
Discounts.

4.2 Gosport has been able to provide additional support to 4930 LCTS claimants amounting to £468,041 (as at 18th January 2021)



Financial Services comments: See Financial Implications
Legal Services comments: None
Equality and Diversity: N/A
Climate Change implications: N/A
Crime and Disorder: N/A
Service Improvement Plan 
implications:

N/A

Corporate Plan: N/A
Risk Assessment: Failure to provide support to local businesses 

would have a negative impact of the local 
economy and employment levels.

Background Papers: P & O Board report 16th March 2020
P& O Board report 6th June 2020

Appendices:
Report Author/Lead Officer: Margaret Gibbins



 
Non-Domestic Rates 
Team 
LGF – Local Taxation 
SE Quarter - 2nd Floor 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London SW1P 4DF 

26 March 2020 
ndr@communities.gov.uk 

 
 
Chief Finance Officers of English Billing Authorities  
          
FOR THE ATTENTION OF THE BUSINESS RATES SECTION 
 
Dear Chief Finance Officer 
 
Business Rates Information Letter (5/2020): Coronavirus Response and 
Guidance 
 
This is the fifth business rates information letter to be issued by the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government this year.  Previous letters are 
available on the internet at: 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/business-rates-information-letters 
 
or for archived letters: 
 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919132719/http:/www.communities.
gov.uk/localgovernment/localgovernmentfinance/businessrates/busratesinformationl
etters/. 
 
This letter covers: 
 

• Extension to the Expanded Retail Discount 2020/21: Coronavirus 
Response 

• BEIS Grant Scheme 
 
 
 
 

mailto:ndr@communities.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/business-rates-information-letters
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919132719/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/localgovernment/localgovernmentfinance/businessrates/busratesinformationletters/
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919132719/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/localgovernment/localgovernmentfinance/businessrates/busratesinformationletters/
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919132719/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/localgovernment/localgovernmentfinance/businessrates/busratesinformationletters/


 
 
Expanded Retail Discount 2020/21: Coronavirus Response 
 
On 25 March the Government announced a further expansion to the Expanded 
Retail Discount to remove some of the previous exclusions from the relief. This is to 
ensure that some businesses that were previously excluded but are now required to 
close, such as estate agents, letting agents, betting shops and bingo halls, will be 
eligible for the relief.   

  
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government has issued updated 
guidance to local authorities to reflect this expansion to the scheme. The guidance 
can be accessed here: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-
retail-discount-guidance 
 
Given the importance of this additional support for local businesses, we would 
encourage authorities to do all you can to ensure that revised bills are issued as 
quickly as possible to qualifying ratepayers and confirm that they will not need to pay 
any rates for this year.  
 
Local authorities will be fully compensated for the loss of income associated with 
granting the expanded relief and the Government will meet the associated new 
burdens funding to cover the administrative costs of implementation. A 
supplementary data collection exercise to provide the necessary data to allow the 
Department to calculate the amounts of grant due is in progress. 
 
BEIS Grant Schemes 
 
At Budget, the Chancellor announced that all businesses eligible for Small Business 
Rates Relief and Rural Rates Relief would receive a grant of £3,000 each to help 
with the impact of Covid-19.   
  
On 17 March, the Chancellor confirmed that the Government would increase the 
value of this to £10,000 per business.  
  
On the 17 March the Government also announced that it would provide those 
businesses in the retail, hospitality and leisure sectors with an additional cash grant 
of up to £25,000 per business. Recipients will receive one grant per eligible 
property:  
  

o For businesses in these sectors with a rateable value of under £15,000, they 
will receive a grant of £10,000  
o For businesses in these sectors with a rateable value of between £15,000 and 
£51,000, they will receive a grant of £25,000  

 
The grant scheme is being implemented by BEIS. Detailed guidance for local 
authorities was published on 24 March:  

www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-on-
business-support-grant-funding   

 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-retail-discount-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-retail-discount-guidance
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-on-business-support-grant-funding
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-on-business-support-grant-funding


Further questions on implementation on the scheme should be directed 
to: businessgrantfunds@beis.gov.uk   
 
The scheme is being fully funded by the Government, and will be administered by 
local authorities. Section 31 grant payments will be made to local authorities on 1 
April.   
 
 
 

mailto:businessgrantfunds@beis.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
Non-Domestic Rates 
Team 
LGF – Local Taxation 
SE Quarter - 2nd Floor 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London SW1P 4DF 

20 March 2020 
ndr@communities.gov.uk 

 
 
Chief Finance Officers of English Billing Authorities  
          
FOR THE ATTENTION OF THE BUSINESS RATES SECTION 
 
Dear Chief Finance Officer 
 
Business Rates Information Letter (4/2020): Coronavirus Response and 
Guidance 
 
This is the fourth business rates information letter to be issued by the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government this year.  Previous letters are 
available on the internet at: 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/business-rates-information-letters 
 
or for archived letters: 
 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919132719/http:/www.communities.
gov.uk/localgovernment/localgovernmentfinance/businessrates/busratesinformationl
etters/. 
 
This letter covers: 
 

• Expanded Retail Discount 2020/21: Coronavirus Response 
• Nursery Discount 2020/21: Coronavirus Response 
• Local Authority Response 

 
 
 
 

mailto:ndr@communities.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/business-rates-information-letters
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919132719/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/localgovernment/localgovernmentfinance/businessrates/busratesinformationletters/
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919132719/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/localgovernment/localgovernmentfinance/businessrates/busratesinformationletters/
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919132719/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/localgovernment/localgovernmentfinance/businessrates/busratesinformationletters/


\ 
 
Expanded Retail Discount 2020/21: Coronavirus Response 
 
 
At the Budget the Chancellor announced that the business rates retail discount 
would be increased to 100% and expanded to cover the leisure and hospitality 
sectors, as part of the Government’s response to the economic impact of the Covid-
19.  
 
On the 17 March the Chancellor confirmed that the Government would also be 
removing the £51,000 rateable value threshold for the expanded retail discount.  
 
Guidance to local authorities on the implementation of the expanded relief has now 
been published at: 
www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-retail-discount-guidance 
 
Given the importance of this additional support for local businesses, we would 
encourage authorities to do all you can to ensure that revised bills are issued as 
quickly as possible to qualifying ratepayers and confirm that they will not need to pay 
any rates for this year.  
 
Local authorities will be fully compensated for the loss of income associated with 
granting the expanded relief and the Government will meet the associated new 
burdens funding to cover the administrative costs of implementation. 
 
 
Nursery Discount 2020/21: Coronavirus Response 
 
On 18 March, in response to the coronavirus, the Government announced that many 
childcare providers would pay no business rates in 2020/21. 
 
Guidance to local authorities on the implementation of the nursery relief has now 
been published at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-nursery-childcare-
discount-2020-to-2021-coronavirus-response-local-authority-guidance 
 
Local authorities will be fully compensated for the cost of this measure and 
Government will meet the associated new burdens costs. 
 
Local Authority Response  
 
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government are grateful to local 
authorities for all their efforts in supporting their local businesses and communities 
during this difficult time.  
 
 

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-retail-discount-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-nursery-childcare-discount-2020-to-2021-coronavirus-response-local-authority-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-rates-nursery-childcare-discount-2020-to-2021-coronavirus-response-local-authority-guidance


 
 

April 2020 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

 
 

 

 

Business Rates 

Nursery Discount 2020/21: Coronavirus Response – Local 
Authority Guidance  
 
 



 
 

 

 

© Crown copyright, 2020 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, 
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit 
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg 

April 2020

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/mhclg


 
 

3 

Contents 
 

About this guidance 4 

Introduction 4 

Nursery Discount 4 

How will the relief be provided? 4 
Which properties will benefit from relief? 5 
State Aid 6 
Splits, mergers, and changes to existing hereditaments 6 

Annex A: Calculation examples for 2020/21 7 

 



 
 

4 

About this guidance 
1. This guidance is intended to support local authorities in administering the business 

rates Nursery Discount announced on 18 March 2020. This guidance applies to 
England only. 

 
2. This guidance sets out the criteria which central government considers for this 

purpose to be eligible for the Nursery Discount. The guidance does not replace 
existing legislation. 

 
3. Enquiries on this measure should be addressed to:  
 ndr@communities.gov.uk 

 
Introduction 

 
4. As an extraordinary response to the coronavirus, the Government announced a 

business rates Nursery Discount on 18 March 2020. 
 

5. This relief will apply to hereditaments occupied by providers on Ofsted’s Early 
Years Register and wholly or mainly used for the provision of the Early Years 
Foundation Stage and which are subject to business rates in the year 2020/21. 
There will be no rateable value limit on the relief. Where necessary, Ofsted will 
provide local authorities access to the Ofsted Early Years Register to help local 
authorities identify eligible properties.  

 
6. This document provides guidance to authorities about the operation and delivery of 

the policy.  

 
Nursery Discount  
How will the relief be provided? 

7. As this is a measure for 2020/21 only, the Government is not changing the 
legislation relating to the reliefs available to properties. Instead the Government will, 
in line with the eligibility criteria set out in this guidance, reimburse local authorities 
that use their discretionary relief powers under section 47 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 (as amended), to grant relief. It will be for individual local billing 
authorities to adopt a local scheme and determine in each individual case when, 
having regard to this guidance, to grant relief under section 47.  Central government 
will fully reimburse local authorities for the local share of the discretionary relief 
(using a grant under section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003).  
 

8. Central government will reimburse billing authorities and major precepting 
authorities for the actual cost to them under the rates retention scheme of the relief 
that falls within the definitions in this guidance.  Local authorities will have 
completed their NNDR1 for 2020/21 already.  Therefore, billing authorities will 

mailto:ndr@communities.gov.uk


 
 

5 

shortly be asked to provide a further and separate estimate of their likely total cost 
for providing the 100% Nursery Discount in 2020/21. The Government will provide 
payments to authorities to cover the local share, as per the usual process.  
 

9. Local authorities will also be asked to provide outturn data on the actual total cost 
for providing the relief, as per the usual process, via the National Non-Domestic 
Rate 3 (NNDR3) forms for 2020/21. Any required reconciliations will then be 
conducted at these points.1 

 
Which properties will benefit from relief? 

10. Properties that will benefit from the relief will be hereditaments occupied by 
providers on Ofsted's Early Years Register and wholly or mainly used for the 
provision of the Early Years Foundation Stage. 
 

11. To qualify for the relief the hereditament should be wholly or mainly being used for 
the above qualifying purpose. In a similar way to other reliefs (such as charity 
relief), this is a test on use rather than occupation. Therefore, hereditaments which 
are occupied but not wholly or mainly used for the qualifying purpose will not qualify 
for the relief.  For the avoidance of doubt, hereditaments which have closed 
temporarily due to the government’s advice on COVID-19 should be treated as 
occupied for the purposes of this relief.   
 

12. Billing authorities which are unitary authorities, London boroughs or metropolitan 
districts should work with their education teams to identify eligible hereditaments in 
their area. We strongly urge county councils to assist district councils in identifying 
eligible properties. 
 

13. In line with the legal restrictions in section 47(8A) of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1988, billing authorities may not grant the discount to themselves, a precepting 
authority, or a functional body, within the meaning of the Greater London Authority 
Act 1999.  

 
How much relief will be available? 
  
14. The total amount of government-funded relief available for each property for 

2020/21 under this scheme is 100% of the bill, after mandatory reliefs and other 
discretionary reliefs funded by section 31 grants have been applied, excluding those 
where local authorities have used their wider discretionary relief powers introduced 
by the Localism Act which are not funded by section 31 grants.2  
 

15. The eligibility for the discount and the discount itself will be assessed and calculated 
on a daily basis. The following formula should be used to determine the amount of 

 
 
1 As required in the NNDR3 guidance notes, the former categories of discretionary relief prior to the Localism 
Act (i.e. charitable/CASC/rural etc. top up and not for profit) should be applied first in the sequence of 
discretionary reliefs and, therefore, before the nursery discount. 
2 As required in the NNDR3 guidance notes, the former categories of discretionary relief prior to the localism 
act (i.e. charitable/CASC/rural etc. top up and not for profit) should be applied first in the sequence of 
discretionary reliefs and, therefore, before the nursery discount. 



 
 

6 

relief to be granted for a chargeable day for a particular hereditament in the 
financial year 2020/21: 

 
Amount of relief to be granted = V, where 

 
V is the daily charge for the hereditament for the chargeable day after the 
application of any mandatory relief and any other discretionary reliefs, and 
those where local authorities have used their discretionary relief powers 
introduced by the Localism Act which are not funded by section 31 grants.3 

 
16. This should be calculated ignoring any prior year adjustments in liabilities which fall 

to be liable on the day.  
 
17. Ratepayers that occupy more than one property will be entitled to relief for each of 

their eligible properties. 
 

State Aid 

18. The Government’s assessment is that, given the impact of COVID-19 in the sector 
receiving the relief that the nursery discount 2020/21 is not a State aid. The 
Government has considered this matter in discussions with the European 
Commission and is content with this analysis following those discussions. Local 
Authorities should provide the relief to all eligible properties.   

 
 
Splits, mergers, and changes to existing hereditaments 

19. The discount should be applied on a day to day basis using the formula set out 
above.  A new hereditament created as a result of a split or merger during the 
financial year, or where there is a change of use, should be considered afresh for 
the discount on that day.   

  

 
 
3 As required in the NNDR3 guidance notes, the former categories of discretionary relief prior to the localism 
act (i.e. charitable/CASC/rural etc. top up and not for profit) should be applied first in the sequence of 
discretionary reliefs and, therefore, before the nursery discount. 



 
 

7 

Annex A: Calculation examples for 2020/21  
 
The Nursery discount is always calculated after mandatory relief and other discretionary 
reliefs funded by section 31 grant. The multiplier used here is provisional. 
 
Example 1: An occupied nursery with a rateable value of £40,000 
 
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £40,000 x 0. 499: = £19,960 
Nursery Discount (100%):  = -£19,960 
Rates due (after Nursery Discount): = £nil 

 
Example 2: An occupied nursery with a rateable value of £100,000 
 
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £100,000 x 0.512: = £51,200 
Nursery Discount (100%):  = -£51,200 
Rates due (after Nursery Discount): = £nil 

 
Example 3: An occupied nursery run by a charity with a rateable value of £40,000 
 
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £40,000 x 0.512 = £20,480 
Net rates after charity relief: = £4,096 
Nursery Discount (100%):  = -£4,096 
Rates due (after charity relief and Nursery Discount): = £nil 

 
Example 4: An occupied nursery with a rateable value of £13,500 eligible for Small 
Business Rate Relief (SBRR) 
 
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £13,500 x 0.499 = £6,737 
Net rates after SBRR (50%): = £3,368 
Nursery Discount (100%):  = -£3,368 
Rates due (after SBRR and Nursery Discount): = £nil 

 
Example 5: An occupied nursery with a rateable value of £10,000 eligible for Small 
Business Rate Relief (SBRR) 
 
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £10,000 x 0.499 = £4,990 
Net rates after SBRR (100%):  = £nil 

Rates bill is nil and, therefore, no Nursery Discount applies 
 

Example 6: An occupied nursery with a rateable value of £40,000 eligible for 
Transitional Relief (TR) and receiving Revaluation Discretionary Relief 
 
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £40,000 x 0.499 = £19,960 
Transitional Relief (say):  = -£1,500 
Net rates after Transitional Relief: = £18,460 
Net rates after Revaluation Discretionary Relief (say): = £15,460 
Nursery Discount (100%): = -£15,460 
Rates due (after TR, revaluation relief and Nursery Discount): = £nil 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



Grant Funding Schemes 
Small Business Grant Fund and Retail, 
Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund: 

Guidance for Local Authorities 

August 2020 - Version 6 



© Crown copyright 2020 

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. 
To view this licence, visit nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3 or write to the 
Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: 
psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk.  

Where we have identified any third-party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the 
copyright holders concerned. 

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at:  
enquiries@beis.gov.uk

http://nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:enquiries@beis.gov.uk


 

3 

Contents 
The guidance ______________________________________________________________ 4

Introduction ______________________________________________________________ 4
How will the grants be provided? _____________________________________________ 4
How much funding will be provided to businesses? _______________________________ 5
Who will benefit from these schemes? _________________________________________ 5
Who will receive this funding? _______________________________________________ 7
Managing the risk of fraud __________________________________________________ 7
Rating List Changes _______________________________________________________ 7
Rating List Changes Exceptions ______________________________________________ 8
Post Event Assurance _____________________________________________________ 8
Monitoring and Reporting Requirements _______________________________________ 8
State Aid ________________________________________________________________ 8

Annex A - Summary of Scheme Requirements ____________________________________ 9
Annex B – Post-Payment Reporting ____________________________________________ 13
Annex C – State Aid ________________________________________________________ 15
Sample Paragraphs that could be included in letters to grant recipients ________________ 15



Small Business Grant Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund guidance 

4 

The guidance 
1. This guidance is intended to support Local Authorities in administering the business 

grant schemes announced at Budget on 11 March 2020, and the level of funding was 
increased in a statement from the Chancellor on 17 March. This guidance applies to 
England only.  

2. This guidance sets out the criteria which central government considers for this purpose 
to be eligible for the Small Business Grant Fund and the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure 
Grant Fund. This does not replace existing guidance.  

3. Local Authority enquiries on this measure should be addressed to 
businessgrantfunds@beis.gov.uk. Businesses seeking information should refer to the 
government’s Business Support Hub. 

Introduction 

4. In response to the Coronavirus, COVID-19, the government announced there would be 
support for small businesses, and businesses in the retail, hospitality and leisure 
sectors.  

5. This support will take the form of two grant funding schemes in Financial Year 2020-
2021, the Small Business Grant Fund and the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant 
Fund.  

6. This document provides guidance to authorities about the operation and delivery of the 
policy.  

How will the grants be provided? 

7. The government will, in line with the eligibility criteria set out in this guidance, reimburse 
Local Authorities that pay grants to eligible businesses.  Central government will fully 
reimburse Local Authorities, in line with the following guidance and the grant offer letter 
sent to LAs, for the cost of the grant (using a grant under section 31 of the Local 
government Act 2003).  Local Authorities will be responsible for delivering the funding to 
eligible businesses.  

8. We are committed to meeting the delivery costs to Local Authorities for this scheme, 
and will meet associated New Burdens costs. A New Burdens Assessment will be 
completed and funding then provided to authorities.  

9. Local Authorities that will be responsible for making payments to businesses and which 
will receive funding from government are business rate billing authorities in England.  

10. This grant scheme will offer a lifeline to businesses who are struggling to survive due to 
the corona virus shutdown. Local Authorities should make payments as quickly as 
possible to support struggling businesses. 

mailto:businessgrantfunds@beis.gov.uk.
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/financial-support-for-businesses-during-coronavirus-covid-19


Small Business Grant Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund guidance 

5 

How much funding will be provided to businesses? 

11. Under the Small Business Grant Fund (SBGF) all businesses in England in receipt of 
either Small Business Rates Relief (SBRR) or Rural Rates Relief (RRR) in the business 
rates system will be eligible for a payment of £10,000 in line with the eligibility criteria as 
set out in paragraphs 16-23.  

12. Under the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant (RHLG), businesses in England that 
would have been in receipt of the Expanded Retail Discount (which covers retail, 
hospitality and leisure) on 11 March with a rateable value of less than £51,000 will be 
eligible for the following cash grants per property.  

13. Eligible businesses in these sectors with a property that has a rateable value of up to 
and including £15,000 will receive a grant of £10,000, in line with the eligibility criteria as 
set out in paragraphs 24-31.  

14. Eligible businesses in these sectors with a property that has a rateable value of over 
£15,000 and less than £51,000 will receive a grant of £25,000, in line with the eligibility 
criteria as set out in paragraphs 24-31.  

15. Businesses with a rateable value of £51,000 or over are not eligible for this scheme. 
Businesses which are not ratepayers in the business rates system are not included in 
this scheme.  

Who will benefit from these schemes? 

Small Business Grant Fund 

16. Hereditaments included in this scheme are those which on the 11 March 2020 were 
eligible for relief under the business rate Small Business Rate Relief Scheme (including 
those with a Rateable Value between £12,000 and £15,000 which receive tapered 
relief). 

17. These are hereditaments to which: 

a. Section 43 (4B)(a) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (small business 
rate relief) applied, and 

b. The value of E (as defined in article 3 of the Non-Domestic Rating (Relies, 
thresholds and Amendment) (England) Order 2017, SI 2017/102) was greater 
than 1.   

18. Hereditaments that were not eligible for percentage SBRR relief (including those eligible 
for the Small Business Rate Multiplier) are excluded. 

19. Hereditaments which on 11 March 2020 were eligible for relief under the rural rate relief 
scheme are also eligible for this scheme. These are hereditaments to which Section 43 
(6B) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (rural rate relief) applied. 



Small Business Grant Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund guidance 

6 

20. Town and Parish councils are eligible if they meet all the scheme criteria (the precepting 
authority exclusion does not apply here as they are in theory eligible for small business 
rate relief or rural rate relief. 

21. Eligible recipients will be entitled to receive one grant per hereditament from the earlier 
of the date payment of the grant by the Local Authority or 1st April 2020. 

Exclusions to Small Business Grant Fund 

22. Hereditaments occupied for personal uses. Examples of where there may be personal 
use include private stables and loose boxes, beach huts and moorings. 

23. Car parks and parking spaces. 

24. For the avoidance of doubt, businesses which as of the 11 March were in liquidation or 
were dissolved will not be eligible. 

Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant 

25. Hereditaments which on the 11 March 2020 had a rateable value of less than £51,000 
and would have been eligible for a discount under the business rates Expanded Retail 
Discount Scheme had that scheme been in force for that date are eligible for the grant. 
Charities which would otherwise meet this criteria but whose bill for 11 March had been 
reduced to nil by a local discretionary award should still be considered to be eligible for 
the RHL grant. 

26. Eligible recipients will be entitled to receive one grant per hereditament from the earlier 
of the date of payment of the grant by the Local Authority or 1st April 2020.  

Exclusions to RHLG 

27. Recipients eligible for the Small Business Grant Fund will not be eligible for the Retail, 
Hospitality and Leisure Grant.  

28. Hereditaments occupied for personal uses. Examples of where there may be personal 
use include private stables and loose boxes, beach huts and moorings. 

29. Town and Parish councils are not eligible for RHLG (they are excluded as a precepting 
authority, see section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988). 

30. Car parks and parking spaces. 

31. For the avoidance of doubt, businesses which as of the 11 March were in liquidation or 
were dissolved will not be eligible. 

32. Hereditaments with a rateable value of £51,000 or over.   

33. Only one grant may be awarded per hereditament. 



Small Business Grant Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund guidance 

7 

Who will receive this funding? 

34. The person who according to the billing authority’s records was the ratepayer in respect 
of the hereditament on the 11 March 2020. 

35. Where the Local Authority has reason to believe that the information that they hold 
about the ratepayer on the 11 March 2020 is inaccurate they may withhold or recover 
the grant and take reasonable steps to identify the correct ratepayer.  Local Authorities 
should make clear to recipients that the grant is for the ratepayer and may be liable for 
recovery if the recipient was not the ratepayer on the eligible day.   

36. The Local Authority must call or write to the business, stating that by accepting the grant 
payment, the business confirms that they are eligible for the grant schemes. This 
includes where Local Authorities already have bank details for businesses, and are in a 
position to send out funding immediately, or where the Local Authority is sending a 
cheque to a business. 

37. Landlords and management agents are urged to support local government in quickly 
identifying the correct ratepayer.  

Will these grant schemes be subject to tax? 

38. Grant income received by a business is taxable therefore the Small Business Grants, 
and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grants will be subject to tax. 

39. Only businesses which make an overall profit once grant income is included will be 
subject to tax. 

Managing the risk of fraud 

40. The government will not accept deliberate manipulation and fraud - and any business 
caught falsifying their records to gain additional grant money will face prosecution and 
any funding issued will be subject to claw back, as may any grants paid in error 

41. The government Grants Management Function and Counter Fraud Function will make 
their digital assurance tool, Spotlight, available to Local Authorities, and will offer 
support in using the tool and interpreting results. Alongside other checks conducted by 
local authorities, the tool can help with pre-payment and post payment assurance. We 
also want local authorities to work with us and each other in identifying and sharing 
good practice, including protecting eligible businesses which may be targeted by 
fraudsters pretending to be central or local government or acting on their behalf. 

Rating List Changes 

42. Any changes to the rating list (rateable value or to the hereditament) after the 11 March 
2020 including changes which have been backdated to this date should be ignored for 
the purposes of eligibility. 



Small Business Grant Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund guidance 

8 

43. Local Authorities are not required to adjust, pay or recover grants where the rating list is 
subsequently amended retrospectively to the 11 March 2020. 

Rating List Changes Exceptions 

44. In cases where it was factually clear to the Local Authority on the 11 March 2020 that 
the rating list was inaccurate on that date, Local Authorities may withhold the grant 
and/or award the grant based on their view of who would have been entitled to the grant 
had the list been accurate. 

45. This is entirely at the discretion of the Local Authority and only intended to prevent 
manifest errors. 

46. Where the Local Authority chooses to use this discretion then landlords and managing 
agents are urged to support the Local Authority in identifying quickly the correct 
ratepayers. 

Post Event Assurance 

47. Post payment, the Government Grants Management Function and Counter Fraud 
Function will support local authorities to carry out post-event assurance work to identify 
high risk payments. 

Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 

48. There will not be a mandatory application process for this scheme. However, Local 
Authorities must retain necessary data provided and BEIS will undertake regular data 
collection exercises. Further guidance will be forthcoming to support this process. The 
data will include: 

a) numbers of businesses eligible per scheme,  

b) number of payments being processed per scheme, and  

c) number of actual payments per scheme. 

49. Annex B contains information on Post Payment Monitoring requirements.  

State Aid 

50. The United Kingdom left the EU on 31 January 2020, nonetheless under the Withdrawal 
Agreement the State aid rules continue to apply during a transition period, subject to 
regulation by the EU Commission. The Local Authority must be satisfied that all State 
aid requirements have been fully met and complied with when making grant payments, 
including, where required, compliance with all relevant conditions of the EU State aid 
De-Minimis Regulation, the EU Commission Temporary Framework for State aid 
measures to support the economy in the current COVID-19 outbreak, the approved 



Small Business Grant Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund guidance 

9 

COVID-19 Temporary Framework for UK Authorities, and any relevant reporting 
requirements to the EU Commission. 

51. Payments made under SBGF can be provided under the existing De Minimis rules, 
provided doing so does not exceed the €200,000 threshold. Payments made under the 
RHLGF (or SBGF where the De Minimis threshold has been reached) should be paid 
under the COVID-19 Temporary Framework for UK Authorities.  

52. Annex C of this guidance contains two sample declarations which local authorities may 
wish to use with either payments under the De Minimis rules or under the COVID-19 
Temporary Framework for UK Authorities. Where Local Authorities have further 
questions about De Minimis or other aspects of State aid law, they should seek advice 
from their legal department in the first instance. 

Annex A - Summary of Scheme 
Requirements 

 
SCHEME 1 (BUSINESS 
SUPPORT GRANTS 
FUND) 

SCHEME 2 (RETAIL, HOSPITALITY AND 
LEISURE BUSINESS GRANTS FUND) 

2A (RATEABLE 
VALUE up to and 
including £15,000) 

2B (RATEABLE 
VALUE £15,000.01 – 
50,999) 

PER 
BUSINESS 
GRANT 

£10,000 £10,000 £25,000 

FUNDING 
GEOGRAPHY 

ENGLAND ONLY  
BUSINESS RATE BILLING AUTHORITIES 

STATE AID State aid applies SBGF can be paid as De Minimis aid €200,000 limit over 
3 years (or under the Temporary Framework where De Minimis threshold 
exceeded). 

RHLGF can be paid under the UK COVID-19 Temporary Framework for 
UK Authorities subject to: 

a) €800,000 limit; and  

b) recipient confirming they were not an undertaking in difficulty (within the 
definition of Article 2(18) of the General Block Exemption Regulation) on 
31 December 2019. 



Small Business Grant Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund guidance 

10 

PAYMENTS 
TO LOCAL 
AUTHORITIES 

FUNDING TO LOCAL AUTHORITIES BY S.31 GRANT ON OR AROUND  
1ST APRIL 2020 

GRANTS TO BE DETERMINED IN PROPORTION TO NUMBER OF 
ELIGIBLE HEREDITAMENTS 

ENTITLEMENT 
DATE OF 
ELIGIBLE 
RECEIPIENTS 

Earlier of the date of payment of the grant by the Local Authority or 1st 
April 2020 

ELIGIBILITY 
DATE OF 
SCHEME 

11 March 2020 

ELIGIBILITY 
CRITERIA 

Hereditaments which on the eligible 
date were eligible for relief under the 
business rate Small Business Rate 
Relief Scheme (including those in the 
£12k - £15k rateable value taper). 

These are hereditaments to which: 

- Section 43 (4B)(a) of the Local 
government Finance Act 1988 (small 
business rate relief) applied, and 

- The value of E (as defined in article 
3 of the Non-Domestic Rating 
(Relies, thresholds and Amendment) 
(England) Order 2017, SI 2017 No 2) 
was greater than 1.   

This does not include hereditaments 
that were not eligible for percentage 
SBRR relief but were eligible for the 
Small Business rate Multiplier. 

Hereditaments which on the scheme 
eligibility date were eligible for relief 
under the rural rate relief scheme. 
These are hereditaments to which:  

Section 43 (6B) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988 (rural 
rate relief) applies. 

Hereditaments which on the 
scheme eligibility date had a 
rateable value of less than £51,000 
and would have been eligible for a 
discount under the Expanded 
Retail Discount scheme had that 
scheme been in force for that date. 



Small Business Grant Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund guidance 

11 

EXCLUSIONS 1. Hereditaments occupied for personal uses.  Examples of where there 
may be personal use include private stables and loose boxes, beach huts 
and moorings. 

2. Car parks and parking spaces. 

3. Hereditaments with a rateable value of £51,000 or over.  

In line with the restrictions in the Expanded Retail Discount, billing 
authorities may not award the grant  to themselves, a precepting authority, 
or a functional body, within the meaning of the Greater London Authority 
Act 1999.  

Only one grant may be awarded per hereditament. 

GRANT 
RECIPIENT 

The person who according to the billing authority’s records was the 
ratepayer in respect of the hereditament on the scheme eligibility date. 

Where the local authority has reason to believe that the information that 
they hold about the ratepayer on the scheme eligibility date is inaccurate 
they may withhold or recover the grant and take reasonable steps to 
identify the correct ratepayer.  Local authorities should make clear to 
recipients that the grant is for the ratepayer and may be liable for recovery 
if the recipient was not the ratepayer on the eligible day.   

Landlord and management agents are urged to support local government 
in quickly identifying the correct ratepayer 

COUNTER 
FRAUD 
MEASURES 

Any business caught falsifying their records to gain additional grant money 
will face prosecution and any funding issued will be subject to claw back.  

GRANTS PER 
BUSINESS 

1 per hereditament 1 per unique hereditament 

RATING LIST 
CHANGES 

Any changes to the rating list (rateable value or to the hereditament) after 
the scheme eligibility date including changes which have been backdated 
to this date should be ignored for the purposes of eligibility. 

Local authorities are not required to adjust, pay or recover grants where 
the rating list is subsequently amended retrospectively to the scheme 
eligibility date. 

RATING LIST 
CHANGES 
EXCEPTIONS 

In cases where it was factually clear to the local authority on the scheme 
eligibility date that the rating list was inaccurate on that date, local 
authorities may withhold the grant and/or award the grant based on their 
view of who would have been entitled to the grant had the list been 
accurate. 



Small Business Grant Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund guidance 

12 

This is entirely at the discretion of the local authority and only intended to 
prevent manifest errors. 

Where the local authority chooses to use this discretion then landlords and 
managing agents are urged to support the local authority in identifying 
quickly the correct ratepayers. 

POST EVENT 
ASSURANCE 

Post payment, the Government Grants Management Function and Counter 
Fraud Function will support LAs to carry out post event assurance work to 
identify high risk payments. 

MONITORING 
& REPORTING 

Local authorities to retain records of individual payment, as part of their 
usual processes.  

Local authorities to provide weekly reports on a) numbers of businesses 
eligible per scheme, b) number of actual payments and value per scheme. 



Small Business Grant Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund guidance 

13 

Annex B – Post-Payment Reporting 

Background 

1. Local Authorities will be required to report weekly to the department on the following 
funds:  

• Small Business Grant Fund 

• Retail, Leisure & Hospitality Grant Scheme 2a  

• Retail, Leisure & Hospitality Grant Scheme 2b 

2. Reports will cover:   

• Numbers of businesses eligible per scheme  

• Number of actual payments  

• A RAG rating for delivery confidence 

• Issues encountered in implementing the scheme to allow BEIS to support development 
of solutions with local authorities  

3. The return will be completed using the DELTA Reporting system.  

Process 

4. Local Authorities are required to complete the weekly return by midday Monday, 
reporting on the previous Monday – Sunday period. 

5. Each weekly report will only cover grants provided by Local Authorities to eligible 
business during the period of the previous week as per paragraph 4.  The Cities and 
Local Growth Unit will consolidate the reports to create an accumulative total and 
monitor progress against the initial allocation of funding per Local Authority.  

Definitions 

Phrase Definition 

Total number of eligible 
businesses 

This reflects the number of eligible businesses identified by the 
Local Authorities to receive funding under each scheme. 

This figure will be used to determine whether the initial SBGF & 
RHLGF allocation to the Local Authorities is sufficient to meet 
the demands of the two schemes. 



Small Business Grant Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund guidance 

14 

Phrase Definition 

Total number of grants 
provided under each 
scheme 

Number of grants paid (in that week) to the eligible businesses 
identified by the Local Authorities. 

Delivery RAG Local Authorities should rate their delivery confidence using the 
follow parameters: 

RED Substantial issues in delivering grants to all businesses in 
a timely manner (50% or more grants at risk of non-delivery or 
late delivery) 

AMBER Significant issues in delivering grants to all businesses 
in a timely manner (25% or more grants at risk of non-delivery or 
late delivery) 

GREEN On track to provide all businesses with grants in a 
timely manner (grants at risks less than 1%) 

Expected Date of 
Completing all payments to 
Eligible Businesses 

Date at which the Local Authorities believes it will have identified 
and provided grants to all eligible businesses. 

Comments Highlight in this box issues that Local Authorities are 
encountering while implementing the Schemes. 



Small Business Grant Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund guidance 

15 

Annex C – State Aid: sample paragraphs 
that could be included in letters to grant 
recipients 

Template to send to beneficiaries of aid awarded based on the 
UK COVID-19 Temporary Framework1  

Dear [Name of Aid Recipient]  

Confirmation of State aid received under the COVID-19 Temporary Framework for UK 
Authorities scheme 

Following the outbreak of the Coronavirus, the European Commission has approved schemes 
to aid businesses affected by the Coronavirus outbreak on the basis of their Temporary 
Framework, including the COVID-19 Temporary Framework scheme for the UK. 

The maximum level of aid that a company may receive is €800,000 (€120,000 per undertaking 
active in the fishery and aquaculture sector or €100,000 per undertaking active in the primary 
production of agricultural products). This is across all UK schemes under the terms of the 
European Commission’s Temporary Framework   

The Euro equivalent of the Sterling aid amount is calculated using the Commission exchange 
rate applicable on the date the aid is offered. 

Any aid provided under this scheme will be relevant if you wish to apply, or have applied, for 
any other aid granted on the basis of the European Commission’s Temporary Framework.  You 
will need to declare this amount to any other aid awarding body who requests information from 
you on how much aid you have received.  You must retain this letter for four years after the 
conclusion of the UK’s transition from the EU and produce it on any request from the UK public 
authorities or the European Commission. 

Aid may be granted to undertakings that were not in difficulty (within the meaning of Article 
2(18) of the General Block Exemption Regulation) on 31 December 2019, but that faced 
difficulties or entered in difficulty thereafter as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak.2 

This aid is in addition any aid that you may be have received under the De Minimis regulation 
allowing aid of up to €200,000 to any one organisation over a three fiscal year period (i.e. your 
current fiscal year and previous two fiscal years), and any other approved aid you have 
received under other State aid rules, such as aid granted under the General Block Exemption 
Regulation. 

 
1 Approval reference. 
2 If you are an undertaking in difficulty within the meaning of Article 2(18) of the General Block Exemption 
Regulation you may still be entitled to de minimis aid if you have received less than €200,000 in de minimis aid in 
the last three years. You should contact us if you consider that you may qualify for de minimis aid on this basis.  

https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/how-eu-funding-works/information-contractors-and-beneficiaries/exchange-rate-inforeuro_en
https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/how-eu-funding-works/information-contractors-and-beneficiaries/exchange-rate-inforeuro_en
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:02014R0651-20170710
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:02014R0651-20170710


Small Business Grant Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund guidance 

16 

Confirmation of State aid received under x Scheme, and Undertaking in Difficulty 
status  

Please sign the attached statement confirming your eligibility, in principle, for aid. 

I confirm that I have received the following aid under measures approved within the European 
Commission’s Temporary Framework between March 2020 and December 2020. 

I confirm that my undertaking was not in difficulty (within the meaning of Article 2(18) of the 
General Block Exemption Regulation) on 31 December 2019. 

Body providing the 
assistance/ aid  Value of assistance (in €)  Date of assistance  

  -   -   - 

  -   -   - 

  -   -   - 

DECLARATION  

Company     - 

Company Representative Name    - 

Signature     - 

Date   - 



Small Business Grant Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund guidance 

17 

Template to send to beneficiaries of aid awarded based on De 
Minimis Rules 

Dear [ ]  

NON-DOMESTIC RATES ACCOUNT NUMBER: ______________________  
The value of the grant payment to be provided to [name of undertaking] by [name of local 
authority] is £ [ ] (Euros [ ]). 

This award shall comply with the EU law on State aid on the basis that, including this award, 
[name of undertaking] shall not receive more than €200,000 in total of de minimis aid within the 
current financial year or the previous two financial years). See the de minimis Regulations 
1407/2013 (as published in the Official Journal of the European Union L352 24.12.2013) 

Amount of de 
minimis aid  

Date of aid  Organisation 
providing aid  

Nature of aid  

 -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  - 

 -  -  -  - 

I confirm that:  

1) I am authorised to sign on behalf of _________________[name of undertaking]; and  

2) __________________[name of undertaking] shall not exceed its De minimis threshold by 
accepting this grant payment.  

SIGNATURE:   
NAME:   
POSITION:   
BUSINESS:   
ADDRESS:  

I confirm that I wish to accept the grant payment in relation to the above premises.  

DATE:  

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF


Small Business Grant Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund guidance 

18 

Refusal of Grant form 

Name and address of 
premises  

Non-domestic rates 
account number   

  

Amount of Grant Funding  

  

 -  -  - 

  

I confirm that I wish to refuse grant in relation to the above premises. 

I confirm that I am authorised to sign on behalf of ______________ [name of undertaking]. 

SIGNATURE:   
NAME:   
POSITION:   
BUSINESS:   
ADDRESS:   
DATE: 

Name and address of premises  Non-domestic rates account 
number   

    



 

 

This publication is available from: www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-
guidance-on-business-support-grant-funding  

If you need a version of this document in a more accessible format, please email 
enquiries@beis.gov.uk. Please tell us what format you need. It will help us if you say what 
assistive technology you use. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-on-business-support-grant-funding
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-on-business-support-grant-funding
mailto:enquiries@beis.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Gosport Borough Council 

Local Restrictions Support Grant (Open)

Grants for businesses which have not had to close but are financially severely 
impacted as a result of local tier 2 and tier 3 restrictions.  Currently for Gosport this 
applies from 2-19 December 2020.  From 20th December 2020 Gosport entered Tier 
4. 

Local Authorities are asked to prioritise hospitality, hotel, bed & breakfast and leisure 
businesses. 

In response to the direction set by BEIS, Gosport Borough Council's Local Restriction 
Support Grant (Open) will be available to ratepayers in the hospitality and leisure 
sector. Where a business is not subject to business rates, or is ratepayer outside of 
these sectors, an application may be considered under the council's Additional 
Restrictions Support Grant. 

For the purposes of Gosport Borough Council's Local Restrictions Support Grant 
(Open) scheme, hospitality and leisure is as follows:

Restaurants, cafes, drinking establishments, cinemas and live music venues

We consider restaurants, cafes, drinking establishments, cinemas and live music 
venues to mean: 

(a) Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of food and/or drink to visiting 
members of the public: 

 Restaurants 
 Takeaways 
 Sandwich shops 
 Coffee shops 
 Pubs 
 Bars 

(b) Hereditaments which are being used as cinemas 

(c) Hereditaments that are being used as live music venues: 

 Live music venues are hereditaments wholly or mainly used for the 
performance of live music for the purpose of entertaining an audience. 
Hereditaments cannot be considered a live music venue for the purpose of 
this grant where a venue is wholly or mainly used as a nightclub or a theatre, 
for the purposes of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as amended). 



 Hereditaments can be a live music venue even if used for other activities, 
but only if those other activities (i) are merely ancillary or incidental to the 
performance of live music (e.g. the sale/supply of alcohol to audience 
members) or (ii) do not affect the fact that the primary activity for the 
premises is the performance of live music (e.g. because those other 
activities are insufficiently regular or frequent, such as a polling station or a 
fortnightly community event). 

Assembly and Leisure

We consider assembly and leisure to mean: 

(d) Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of sport, leisure and 
facilities to visiting members of the public (including for the viewing of such 
activities). 

 Sports grounds and clubs 
 Museums and art galleries 
 Sport and leisure facilities 
 Stately homes and historic houses 
 Theatres 
 Tourist attractions 
 Gyms 
 Wellness centres, spas, massage parlours 
 Casinos, gambling clubs and bingo halls 

(e) Hereditaments that are being used for the assembly of visiting members of the 
public. 

 Public halls 
 Clubhouses, clubs and institutions 

Hotel, guest & boarding premises and self-catering accommodation

We consider hotels, guest & boarding premises and self-catering accommodation 
to mean:

(f). Hereditaments where the non-domestic part is being used for the provision of 
living accommodation as a business: 

 Hotels, Guest and Boarding Houses 
 Holiday homes 
 Caravan parks and sites 



The list set out above is not intended to be exhaustive as it would be impossible to list 
the many and varied uses that exist within the qualifying purposes. There will also be 
mixed uses. However, it is intended to be a guide as to the types of uses that Gosport 
Borough Council considers for this purpose to be eligible for the Local Restrictions 
Support Grant (Open). 

Definition of severely impacted by restrictions
Gosport Borough Council have determined that it is reasonable to accept that 
ratepayers in the hospitality and leisure sector have been severely impacted by local 
restrictions on socialising. Examples include no mixing of households, 
bar/pub/restaurant restrictions, and the requirement for social distancing measures.

Eligibility Criteria 
Gosport Borough Council determines the eligibility criteria for this grant is:

 The business not legally required to be closed but is severely impacted by LCAL 
High and Very High restrictions.

 The business was trading at the point of local restrictions being implemented.
 The business is responsible for business rates.
 The use of the rated property meets Gosport Borough Council's definition of 

hospitality and leisure.

The following businesses are not eligible:

 Businesses established after the introduction of local restrictions.
 Businesses that were in administration, are insolvent or where a striking-off notice 

has been made are not eligible for funding under this scheme.
 Non business rates payers, or ratepayers that do not meet Gosport Borough 

Council's definition of hospitality and leisure.

Grants Available
The level of grant available is determined by the hereditament's rateable value as 
follows: 

a. Grants of £467 per 14-day period for businesses occupying hereditaments with a 
rateable value of exactly £15,000 or under on the date of the commencement of 
the local restrictions.



b. Grants of £700 per 14-day period for businesses occupying hereditaments with a 
rateable value over £15,000 and less than £51,000 on the date of the 
commencement of the local restrictions.

c. Grants of £1050 per 14-day period for businesses occupying hereditaments with a 
rateable value of exactly £51,000 or above on the date of the commencement of 
the local restrictions.

Application Process
An online form will be available on www.gosport.gov.uk/businessrates 

To be considered for this grant, the ratepayer will be required to complete the online 
application form. The online form will collect the information necessary to confirm 
eligibility to the grant, and satisfy the reporting requirement of BEIS.

Once received, applications will be assessed to establish whether the eligibility criteria 
is met.

The decision of the assessors is final. 

There is no provision to appeal. If the application meets the eligibility criteria and is 
awarded funding, the ratepayer will be contacted to confirm the amount.

If the applicant is not eligible, they will be contacted to advise the reasons for their 
ineligibility, and they will also be signposted to business support, including the 
Additional Restrictions Support Grant.

Payment
All payments will be made via BACS as soon as is possible, and the payments will be 
repeated on a 14 day rolling basis where local restrictions are extended.

Tax
Grant income received by a business is taxable therefore funding paid under the Local 
Restrictions Support Grant (Open) will be subject to tax. Only businesses which make 
an overall profit once grant income is included will be subject to tax. 

State aid
The United Kingdom left the EU on 31 January 2020, nonetheless under the Withdrawal 
Agreement the State aid rules continue to apply during a transition period, subject to 
regulation by the EU Commission. The Local Authority must be satisfied that all State aid 
requirements have been fully met and complied with when making grant payments, 
including, where required, compliance with all relevant conditions of the EU State aid De-
Minimis Regulation, the EU Commission Temporary Framework for State aid measures 

http://www.gosport.gov.uk/businessrates


to support the economy in the current COVID-19 outbreak, the approved Covid-19 
Temporary Framework for UK Authorities, and any relevant reporting requirements to the 
EU Commission. 

Payments made can be provided under the existing De Minimis rules, provided doing so 
does not exceed the €200,000 threshold to any one organisation over a three-year fiscal 
period. Payments made where the De Minimis threshold has been reached should be paid 
under the Covid-19 Temporary Framework for UK Authorities (threshold €800,000). 

The amended Temporary Framework enables EU Member States to give up to the 
nominal value of € 800,000 per company. This can be combined also with so-called de 
minimis aid (to bring the aid per company to up to €1 million) and with other specific types 
of aid. Any business that has reached the limits of payments permissible under the De 
Minimis and the UK Covid-19 Temporary State Aid Framework will not be able to receive 
further grant funding. 

On 13 October 2020 the European Commission (CION) announced further amendments 
to its State aid Temporary Framework - introducing a new measure enabling further 
support to companies facing a decline in turnover during the eligible period of at least 30% 
compared to the same period of 2019 due to the coronavirus outbreak. The support can 
be provided for up to 70% (90% in case of micro and small companies) of the beneficiaries' 
fixed costs that are not covered by their revenues or other specified sources, up to a 
maximum amount of EUR 3 million per undertaking. The aid under this measure cannot 
be cumulated with other aid for the same eligible costs and is subject to further conditions 
set out in the Temporary Framework. The U.K. Government has notified the CION of its 
intention to use the new provision and must await approval from the CION to do so. The 
Covid-19 Temporary Framework for UK Public Authorities will need to be amended before 
aid under this new measure may be provided. All Local Restrictions Support Grants 
guidance documents will be updated to reflect the new provisions if and when they are 
applied to the LRSG schemes once the U.K. Government has approval. See 
announcement: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip_20_1872
 

Fraud
The council will not accept deliberate manipulation and fraud. Any business caught 
falsifying their records to gain additional grant money will face prosecution. Any 
funding issued will be subject to claw back, as will any grants paid in error.

All applicants’ information will be shared with the Government Grants Management 
team to enable any fraud to be identified.  All businesses will confirm this by ticking 
the box on the application form.

Pre And Post Payment Assurance
Gosport Borough Council will conduct activity to provide assurance that the grants have 
been paid out in line with the eligibility and State aid conditions for this scheme. 

https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip_20_1872


The general principle applies that Gosport Borough Council is responsible and 
accountable for the lawful use of funds under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 
1972. The Section 151 Officer within the Local Authority is required to exercise their duties 
in line with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) guidance, 
ensuring their oversight of the proper administration of financial affairs within the Local 
Authority, including of these grants. 
 



Additional Restrictions 
Grant Fund 
Guidance for Applicants 

GOSPORT
Borough Council

22 December 2020



Contents

04 
2. Eligibility Criteria and 
supporting information

07 
3. Application, Decision 
and Funding Process  

03 
1. Fund Overview



1. Fund Overview
In response to the introduction of national 
restrictions effective from 5 November 2020 to  
help manage the coronavirus (Covid-19) outbreak, 
the government announced there would be 
additional funding support for local businesses that 
are severely affected by these restrictions.

For businesses that have been required to close  
by law and are business rate payers, the funding 
available is in the form of a Local Restrictions 
Support Grant (Closed) (LRSG Closed). There is 
separate guidance and application form for this 
grant.

Funding has been made available under the 
Additional Restrictions Grants fund (ARG) for local 
businesses that are not eligible to receive support 
through the LRSG Closed fund but that have either 
been required to close by law or have been severely 
impacted by the national restrictions imposed on 
the 5 November 2020 for the period up to 1 
December 2020.

The ARG scheme is designed to help support 
businesses with their unavoidable fixed costs.  
This scheme is not designed to be a substitute for 
wages, as support for wage costs can be gained 
through the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme 
(CJRS) and the Self-Employment Income Support 
Scheme (SEISS). ARG grants will be awarded to 
eligible businesses based on their level of fixed 
business costs and evidenced drop in sales 
income.

All local authorities have received a ‘one off’ 
allocation to support businesses that experience 
disruption from 5 November 2020 to 31 March 
2022 in line with government guidance during  
these timescales.

Who can access this fund?
Although this is described as a discretionary fund, 
government guidance is that these grants are to 
support: 

• Businesses that are not business ratepayers 
and have been required to close by law.

• Businesses that are not business ratepayers 
and whilst not required to close by law have 
been severely impacted eg. businesses that 
supply the retail, hospitality, leisure sectors,  
or businesses in the events sector.

• Businesses that are business ratepayers and 
whilst not required to close by law have been 
severely impacted eg. businesses that supply 
the retail, hospitality, leisure sectors, or 
businesses in the events sector.

Severely impacted is defined as meeting the 
following criteria:

• A reduction in income of over 33 per cent 
for the 28 day period compared to similar 
previous period of the same length 

• A requirement to continue paying fixed 
costs that are unavoidable

All applicants will have to supply suitable evidence 
that they have been severely impacted as set out 
above by the restrictions imposed by the 
government from 5 November 2020. If you have 
also been unable to trade online this will further 
support your case.

In summary the key features of the scheme 
are;

• Mainly to support non business rate 
payers as they are not eligible for similar 
support schemes as business rate payers

• It is available to any business in sectors 
that has been severely affected by the 
national restrictions  

• It is open to businesses that were open or 
closed during the period of national 
restrictions that were severely impacted 

• Designed to cover unavoidable fixed 
costs only (as employees costs are 
reimbursed through the Government’s 
furlough and Self Employed Income 
Support Scheme) 

• Scheme is to provide support for a the 
period of National Restrictions (5 
November 2020 - 1 December 2020)

• Government guidance requires that:

 ◦ Support cannot be provided to fund 
any costs or losses that relate to 
periods prior to 5 November 2020

Additional Restrictions Grant Fund  • Guidance for Applicants  • 3



 ◦ Funding cannot be provided for any 
“wage supplements”

• Grants will take account of how severely 
affected a business is, starting at a 33% 
reduction in turnover through to full 
closure

• Grant awards will cover a wide range of 
unavoidable fixed costs at a rate 
proportionately higher than the loss of 
turnover 

• Grants will have an upper limit of £3,000 
and a lower limit of £400 for the period of 
National restrictions from 5 November 
2020 to 1 December 2020.

2. Eligibility Criteria and supporting 
information
National eligibility criteria
To be eligible businesses must meet the following 
criteria;

• Businesses must have been open and trading on 
4 November 2020 and be able to evidence this.

• Businesses must not be in administration or be 
insolvent or where a striking-off notice has been 
made.

• Businesses must not have already received grant 
payments that equal the maximum levels of state 
aid permitted under the de minimis and the 
Covid-19 Temporary State Aid Framework

Gosport Borough Council criteria
This grant fund will be used to support and provide 
some recompense for local businesses that have 
either had to close by law or have been severely 
impacted due to being in the supply chain of 
businesses forced to close by law as a direct result 
of the national lockdown restrictions imposed over 
the period from 5 November 2020 to 1 December 
2020. 

The scheme is designed to help support 
businesses with their unavoidable fixed costs.  
This scheme is not designed to be a substitute for 
wages as support for wage costs can be gained 

through the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme 
(CJRS) and the Self-Employment Income Support 
Scheme (SEISS).

In addition to the national eligibility criteria above, 
businesses will also need to meet all of the following 
criteria;

• The business will need to demonstrate how the 
restrictions in place between 5 November and  
1 December 2020 have severely impacted them 
and will have to provide evidence of this

• The business will need to have a trading address 
within Gosport Borough Council local authority 
boundary

• The business will need to incur fixed costs that 
include at least one of the following; 

 ◦ rent
 ◦ business rates
 ◦ storage costs 
 ◦ mooring fees 
 ◦ mortgage costs 
 ◦ use of home as office
 ◦ council tax
 ◦ hire purchase
 ◦ lease costs 
 ◦ license costs
 ◦ business insurance 

4 • Additional Restrictions Grant Fund  • Guidance for Applicants 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/esf-action-notes-2014-to-2020-programme/05120-temporary-easement-to-state-aid-de-minimis-level


Reduction in 
income %

33-40% 41-50% 51-60% 61-70% 71-80% 81-90% 91-100%

Grant level % based 
on eligible fixed 
business costs

60% 75% 90% 105% 120% 135% 150%

As an example:

A business incurs monthly rent of £600, had 
sales income in November 2019 of £3,000 
and sales income in November 2020 of £750. 
Therefore they have suffered a 75% decline 
in income and are eligible for a grant of £720 
(120% of £600).

Other costs will not be deemed as eligible. 

Evidence of the business incurring these costs will 
need to be provided.

Only one application will be accepted per business. 
Businesses that are eligible to receive a grant from 
LRSG (Closed) scheme will not normally be eligible.

Businesses will need to notify their local authority  
if they no longer meet the eligibility criteria for 
additional grants (for example, if they become 
insolvent).

Grants available
For businesses that have been required to close by 
law or are severely affected, grants will be awarded 
under this scheme to recompense towards the 
monthly cost of evidenced eligible fixed costs up to 
a maximum grant of £3,000.

Business Grants will be awarded according to a 
scale set out below which relates to the extent of 
their reduction in income. A minimum grant of £400 
will be awarded to eligible businesses.

Reduction in income will be based on income (total 
sales) for November 2020 compared to income 
(total sales) of November 2019. Where the business 
had not commenced trading in November 2019 
then comparison will be made to income (total 
sales) achieved in September and October 2020.

Eligible fixed monthly costs for the purpose of  
this grant only include:
• rent
• rates
• storage costs
• mooring fees
• mortgage costs
• use of home as office
• council tax
• hire purchase
• lease costs
• license costs

• business insurance (if applicable) 

Evidence of the charge to the business for these 
costs eg invoice or lease agreement and shown in 
the profit and loss accounts or self-assessment 
return must be provided. Please note that any other 
costs paid by the business will not be deemed as 
eligible expenditure.

Exceptional Grants

The council may award a grant higher than £3,000 
in exceptional cases where an eligible business can 
clearly demonstrate that their business needs 
greater support, is in a critical sector responding to 
the pandemic and that it delivers services crucial to 
the economy of Gosport. It is expected that 
exceptional grants would only be paid out in very 
specific circumstances.

Additional Restrictions Grant Fund  • Guidance for Applicants  • 5



Market Traders
Regular Market Traders

• To be eligible, market traders will also have been 
required to close by law or demonstrate that they 
have been severely impacted by the national 
restrictions that came into force on the 5 
November 2020

• Market traders must show that they are regular 
traders by providing a copy of their licence in 
their online application including the number of 
days they trade in Gosport for each pitch held. 
Applicants must have been trading on a weekly 
basis on a market in Gosport for at least three 
months prior to 5 November 2020 to be eligible 
for grant support.

Supporting documentation
In order for your application to be assessed you  
will be required to provide the following supporting 
documents when submitting an application form;

• Copy of the businesses latest filed financial
statements or self-assessment tax return
showing entries for the business where
applicable

• Management accounts / Summary of monthly
income and expenditure for the period from the
last filed financial statements / self-assessment
up to date of application

• Evidence to support monthly income for the
comparative three month periods of September
- November 2019 and September - November
2020

• Evidence of the fixed costs charged to the
business eg invoice or agreement with landlord
and must be shown in the expenditure records of
the business

• Business bank statements for the last three
months

If you don’t supply sufficient evidence as set  
out above it may weaken your application and 
reduce the chance of receiving a grant or mean 
your application is ineligible.

Timescales
Businesses must complete an application form by 
9:00am on Friday 8th January 2021. 

The form will be available on the council’s website at 
www.gosport.gov.uk/businessrates

This application window is as a direct response to 
the national restrictions in force over the period  
5 November 2020 to 1 December 2020. Separate 
application windows will be opened under further 
Tier 2 or Tier 3 restrictions imposed.

However the fund is limited and when the fund has 
been fully allocated there will be no additional grants 
paid.  

All applications will be assessed, specifically related 
to evidenced fixed costs and lost income through 
the 5 November 2020 to 1 December 2020 
restriction period and this will need to be validated 
against information provided as part of the 
application. 

All applicants will be contacted to be informed if 
a grant has been awarded or declined after all 
applications have been assessed.

6 • Additional Restrictions Grant Fund  • Guidance for Applicants 

http://www.gosport.gov.uk/businessrates


3. Application, Decision and Funding 
Process  
Fund Application 
Please apply using the online form on this web page: 
www.gosport.gov.uk/businessrates

Once received, applications will be assessed and 
scored using a scoring matrix based on the criteria 
set out above.

You must attach evidence to substantiate the 
information in your application form. Failing to do  
so will either weaken your application and reduce the 
chance of receiving a grant or mean your application 
is ineligible.

As part of the assessment, you may be asked for 
additional information to support your application. 
This scheme is funded directly by government and 
therefore there is a requirement for proper and 
proportionate checks to be undertaken in the 
assessment of all applications.

If you are required to provide additional information 
then we will request this by email using the 
information provided in your application and require a 
response within five working days in order for your 
application to be assessed. Please ensure you 
regularly check your emails including items that may 
have been sent to your spam / junk inbox. 

The decision of the assessors is final. 

There is no provision to appeal. If your application 
fund meets the criteria and is awarded funding, you 
will be contacted to confirm the amount.  

Release of funds
All payments will be made via BACS as soon as is 
possible but it is expected that the volume of 
applications will be very high and it will take some 
time to carry out all of the assessments.

The business must provide bank details for payment, 
including a bank statement. 

Post Award Monitoring
This scheme is funded directly by Government and  
a requirement of the funding is to collect information 
from businesses receiving these grant payments, 
and we will be expected to account for how the 
funding has been spent. Grant recipients should also 
be advised that they may be contacted for research 
purposes, and that their data will be shared with the 
Department for Business, Energy and Industrial 
Strategy for research and evaluation purposes.

Tax
Grant income received by a business is taxable 
therefore funding paid under the Local Authority 
Discretionary Grants Fund will be subject to tax. Only 
businesses which make an overall profit once grant 
income is included will be subject to tax.  
 
 
 
 
 

Additional Restrictions Grant Fund  • Guidance for Applicants  • 7

http://www.gosport.gov.uk/businessrates


Contact us:
023 9254 5470ä à

å ã

State aid
The United Kingdom left the EU on 31 January 2020, 
nonetheless under the Withdrawal Agreement state 
aid rules continue to apply during a transition period, 
subject to regulation by the EU Commission. 

The council must be satisfied that all state aid 
requirements have been fully met and complied  
with when making grant payments, including, where 
required, compliance with all relevant conditions of 
the EU state aid de minimis regulation, the EU 
commission temporary framework for state aid 
measures to support the economy in the current 
Covid-19 outbreak, the approved Covid-19 
temporary framework for UK authorities, and any 
relevant reporting requirements to the EU 
commission. 

The council has discretion to make payments to 
eligible recipients under either the de minimis rules 
or the Covid-19 temporary framework for UK 
authorities (provided all the relevant conditions are 
met). 

Payments of up to and including £10,000 can be 
provided under the de minimis rules, meaning 
applicants can receive up to €200,000 of aid within  
a three year period. Payments of up to and including 
£25,000 (or where the de minimis threshold has been 
reached) should be paid under the Covid-19 
temporary framework for UK authorities. 

Fraud
The council will not accept deliberate manipulation 
and fraud. Any business caught falsifying their 
records to gain additional grant money will face 
prosecution. Any funding issued will be subject to 
claw back, as will any grants paid in error.

All applicants’ information will be shared with the 
government grants management team to enable any 
fraud to be identified. All businesses will be required 
to confirm acceptance of this by ticking the box on 
the application form.

Information provided may also be shared with BEIS 
(Department for Business, Energy & Industrial 
Strategy) and NFI (National Fraud Initiative).



 
 

March 2020 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

 
 
 
  

 
Council Tax  
 
COVID-19 hardship fund 2020-21 –  
Local Authority Guidance   
 
 



 
 

 

 

© Crown copyright, 2020 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, 
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit 
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg 

March 2020 

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/mhclg


 
 

3 

Contents 
 

About this guidance 4 

Introduction 4 

Underpinning principles 4 

Minimum reduction in council tax liability for working age local council tax support 
claimants 5 

Wider consideration – additional discretionary support 6 

Allocation of funding 6 



 
 

4 

About this guidance 
1. This guidance is intended to support billing authorities in using their allocation from the 

£500m hardship fund announced at the Budget to deliver relief to council tax payers in 
their area. The funding is for the 2020-21 financial year. Allocations for each billing 
authority are set out at Annex A.  
 

2. This guidance applies to England only. It outlines the underpinning principles for use of 
the fund and expected eligibility criteria for delivery of the support package.  

 
3. Any enquiries on this document or use of the fund should be addressed to:  

Council.tax@communities.gov.uk  
 

 

Introduction 
 

4. As part of its response to COVID-19, the Government announced in the Budget on 11 
March that it would provide local authorities in England with £500m of new grant 
funding to support economically vulnerable people and households in their local area. 
 

5. The expectation is that the majority of the hardship fund will be used to provide council 
tax relief, alongside existing local council tax support schemes. This funding is distinct 
from the £5bn COVID-19 response fund to support public services. 

 
6. This document provides guidance to authorities about the operation and delivery of the 

relief.  
 

 

Underpinning principles  
7. The Government recognises that COVID-19 is likely to cause fluctuations in household 

incomes and recognises that, as a result, some individuals may struggle to meet 
council tax payments. Councils will already have established their local council tax 
support schemes for 2020-21. The Government therefore expects that billing 
authorities will primarily use their grant allocation to reduce the council tax liability of 
individuals in their area, using their discretionary powers under s13A(1)(c) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992. Councils may also want to use some funding to deliver 
increased financial assistance through other local support mechanisms, having 
considered local circumstances.  
 

8. Councils should expedite provision of support to individuals in their area, using existing 
policies and schemes to deliver assistance where practical. Where council clearance 
processes are considered necessary, to avoid delays, they should be kept as light 
touch as possible within the governance arrangements of each authority.  

 
9. Council tax reductions should be applied as soon as possible from the beginning of the 

2020-21 financial year and billing authorities should rebill council taxpayers as quickly 
as practical. Authorities will want to make the local population aware of how the grant 
support package will be delivered, e.g. through providing information on their websites. 

mailto:Council.tax@communities.gov.uk


 
 

5 

 
10. The Government has confirmed that it will fund billing authorities in full for the new 

burdens cost for delivering the support. 
 

11. Local authorities will wish to maintain a record of grant expenditure under this scheme, 
both through the council tax system and their own local support mechanisms. 

 
12. It is the Government’s intention that any assistance provided from the council tax 

hardship fund will not affect the eligibility of recipients for other benefits. 
 

 

Minimum reduction in council tax liability for working age 
local council tax support claimants  

13. The Government’s strong expectation is that billing authorities will provide all recipients 
of working age local council tax support (‘LCTS’) during the financial year 2020-21 with 
a further reduction in their annual council tax bill of £150, using their discretionary 
powers to reduce the liability of council tax payers outside of their formal LCTS scheme 
design.  
 

14. Where a taxpayer’s liability for 2020-21 is, following the application of council tax 
support, less than £150, then their liability would be reduced to nil. Where a taxpayer’s 
liability for 2020-21 is nil, no reduction to the council tax bill will be available. 

 
15. There should be no need for any recipient of LCTS to make a separate claim for a 

reduction under this scheme. The billing authority should assess who is eligible for 
support from the hardship fund and automatically rebill those council taxpayers.  

 
16. Whether or not a taxpayer has been affected by COVID-19, directly or indirectly, should 

not be taken into account in assessing eligibility for this reduction. 
 

17. The Government is keen to ensure that support is provided as quickly as possible to 
individuals who are eligible. It therefore considers that there is a strong case for 
councils to provide the support up front to enable the maximum benefit to be delivered 
promptly. However, the Government recognises that in some cases, authorities may 
consider that the most effective assistance could be profiled across the year.   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

6 

Wider consideration – additional discretionary support 
18. The Government recognises that existing support mechanisms vary locally, including 

LCTS schemes, discretionary council tax discount/hardship schemes and local welfare 
schemes. 
 

19. Having allocated grant to reduce the council tax bill of working age LCTS recipients by 
a further £150, billing authorities should establish their own local approach to using any 
remaining grant to assist those in need. Billing authorities will want to revisit their 
broader approach at intervals during the financial year, in order to ensure expenditure 
for 2020-21 remains within their allocation. In determining any broader approach to 
delivering support, authorities are best placed to reflect on the financial needs of their 
most vulnerable residents. In doing so, they may wish to consider using their remaining 
grant allocation as part of wider local support mechanisms. These may include, but are 
not restricted to:  

 
a) Council tax relief using existing discretionary discount/hardship policies (adapted 

where necessary in order to capture those most likely to be affected by COVID-19); 
and 

b) Additional support outside the council tax system through Local Welfare or similar 
schemes; 

c) A higher level of council tax reduction for those working age LCTS recipients whose 
annual liability exceeds £150. 

 
Allocation of funding  
20. Money will be allocated to billing authorities on the basis of their share of the national 

caseload of working age LCTS recipients using the most recent published data (2019-
20, Q3). Annex A sets out allocations for each billing authority for the financial year 
2020-21. 

21. The money will be paid out as soon as possible to billing authorities through a grant 
under section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

7 

Annex A  

Local Authority 
Working Age Caseload 
(2019/20 Q3) Allocation (£) 

Adur                             2,098              453,179  
Allerdale                             4,215              910,462  
Amber Valley                             4,785           1,033,585  
Arun                             4,376              945,239  
Ashfield                             6,405           1,383,514  
Ashford                             4,484              968,568  
Babergh                             2,164              467,436  
Barking & Dagenham                           10,251           2,214,270  
Barnet                           19,133           4,132,829  
Barnsley                           12,252           2,646,497  
Barrow-in-Furness                             3,695              798,140  
Basildon                             7,633           1,648,768  
Basingstoke & Deane                             4,721           1,019,761  
Bassetlaw                             4,198              906,790  
Bath & North East Somerset                             5,963           1,288,040  
Bedford                              6,660           1,438,595  
Bexley                             8,568           1,850,733  
Birmingham                           80,474        17,382,811  
Blaby                             1,923              415,378  
Blackburn with Darwen                            10,158           2,194,182  
Blackpool                            12,977           2,803,101  
Bolsover                             3,610              779,779  
Bolton                           15,994           3,454,789  
Boston                             2,491              538,069  
Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole                           14,367           3,103,348  
Bracknell Forest                              2,822              609,567  
Bradford                           27,093           5,852,232  
Braintree                             4,128              891,670  
Breckland                             4,259              919,967  
Brent                           18,280           3,948,577  
Brentwood                             1,600              345,609  
Brighton and Hove                           10,786           2,329,833  
Bristol                           23,175           5,005,923  
Broadland                             2,950              637,216  
Bromley                             8,524           1,841,229  
Bromsgrove                             2,134              460,955  
Broxbourne                             3,407              735,930  
Broxtowe                             3,781              816,716  
Buckinghamshire                           13,027           2,813,901  
Burnley                             6,830           1,475,316  
Bury                             8,741           1,888,102  
Calderdale                           10,046           2,169,989  
Cambridge                             4,263              920,831  



 
 

8 

Camden                           14,443           3,119,765  
Cannock Chase                             3,288              710,225  
Canterbury                             5,012           1,082,619  
Carlisle                             4,582              989,736  
Castle Point                             2,036              439,787  
Central Bedfordshire                              7,436           1,606,215  
Charnwood                             4,532              978,936  
Chelmsford                             4,013              866,829  
Cheltenham                             3,943              851,709  
Cherwell                             3,787              818,012  
Cheshire East                              9,549           2,062,635  
Cheshire West and Chester                            11,220           2,423,580  
Chesterfield                             5,515           1,191,269  
Chichester                             3,237              699,209  
Chorley                             3,960              855,381  
City of London                                154                33,265  
Colchester                             5,331           1,151,524  
Copeland                             3,562              769,411  
Corby                             2,476              534,829  
Cornwall                            22,022           4,756,869  
Cotswold                             1,803              389,458  
Coventry                           17,277           3,731,924  
Craven                             1,237              267,199  
Crawley                             4,577              988,656  
Croydon                           20,314           4,387,932  
Dacorum                             4,917           1,062,098  
Darlington                              6,046           1,305,968  
Dartford                             4,154              897,286  
Daventry                             1,825              394,210  
Derby                            10,128           2,187,702  
Derbyshire Dales                             1,566              338,264  
Doncaster                           13,855           2,992,753  
Dorset                           12,258           2,647,793  
Dover                             4,878           1,053,674  
Dudley                           13,841           2,989,729  
Durham                            32,242           6,964,443  
Ealing                           14,173           3,061,443  
East Cambridgeshire                             1,990              429,851  
East Devon                             3,301              713,034  
East Hampshire                             2,393              516,901  
East Hertfordshire                             3,083              665,944  
East Lindsey                             6,382           1,378,546  
East Northamptonshire                             2,036              439,787  
East Riding of Yorkshire                              8,992           1,942,320  
East Staffordshire                             3,763              812,828  
East Suffolk                             8,873           1,916,615  
Eastbourne                             4,252              918,455  
Eastleigh                             2,516              543,469  



 
 

9 

Eden                             1,422              307,160  
Elmbridge                             3,091              667,672  
Enfield                           27,299           5,896,729  
Epping Forest                             3,047              658,168  
Epsom and Ewell                             1,593              344,096  
Erewash                             4,395              949,343  
Exeter                             4,326              934,439  
Fareham                             1,960              423,370  
Fenland                             4,200              907,222  
Folkestone & Hythe                             5,244           1,132,732  
Forest of Dean                             2,957              638,728  
Fylde                             2,713              586,022  
Gateshead                           12,372           2,672,418  
Gedling                             4,042              873,093  
Gloucester                             5,303           1,145,476  
Gosport                             2,617              565,286  
Gravesham                             4,135              893,182  
Great Yarmouth                             6,044           1,305,536  
Greenwich                           14,760           3,188,238  
Guildford                             2,173              469,380  
Hackney                           21,353           4,612,361  
Halton                             7,493           1,618,528  
Hambleton                             1,774              383,193  
Hammersmith & Fulham                             9,014           1,947,072  
Harborough                             1,382              298,519  
Haringey                           16,961           3,663,666  
Harlow                             4,323              933,791  
Harrogate                             3,996              863,157  
Harrow                             6,442           1,391,506  
Hart                             1,475              318,608  
Hartlepool                              8,631           1,864,342  
Hastings                             5,935           1,281,991  
Havant                             5,092           1,099,899  
Havering                             8,368           1,807,532  
Herefordshire                              4,983           1,076,354  
Hertsmere                             3,407              735,930  
High Peak                             3,315              716,058  
Hillingdon                             9,835           2,124,412  
Hinckley & Bosworth                             2,459              531,157  
Horsham                             2,787              602,007  
Hounslow                           12,087           2,610,856  
Huntingdonshire                              3,829              827,084  
Hyndburn                             4,363              942,431  
Ipswich                             6,984           1,508,581  
Isle of Wight                              5,258           1,135,756  
Isles of Scilly                                   20                  4,320  
Islington                           17,960           3,879,455  
Kensington & Chelsea                             7,914           1,709,466  



 
 

10 

Kettering                             2,705              584,294  
Kings Lynn & West Norfolk                             4,796           1,035,961  
Kingston upon Hull                            19,681           4,251,200  
Kingston upon Thames                             5,241           1,132,084  
Kirklees                           22,948           4,956,890  
Knowsley                           11,369           2,455,764  
Lambeth                           14,329           3,095,140  
Lancaster                             6,597           1,424,987  
Leeds                           41,304           8,921,883  
Leicester                            17,307           3,738,404  
Lewes                             3,780              816,500  
Lewisham                           15,005           3,241,160  
Lichfield                             2,606              562,910  
Lincoln                             5,601           1,209,846  
Liverpool                           42,324           9,142,208  
Luton                              9,726           2,100,868  
Maidstone                             5,453           1,177,877  
Maldon                             1,564              337,832  
Malvern Hills                              1,895              409,330  
Manchester                           34,528           7,458,231  
Mansfield                             5,650           1,220,430  
Medway                              9,520           2,056,371  
Melton                             1,195              258,126  
Mendip                             3,437              742,410  
Merton                             6,869           1,483,740  
Mid Devon                             2,197              474,564  
Mid Suffolk                             2,017              435,683  
Mid Sussex                             3,221              695,753  
Middlesbrough                            13,112           2,832,262  
Milton Keynes                            10,750           2,322,057  
Mole Valley                             1,944              419,914  
New Forest                             4,104              886,486  
Newark & Sherwood                             3,754              810,884  
Newcastle upon Tyne                           28,505           6,157,231  
Newcastle-under-Lyme                             4,794           1,035,529  
Newham                           19,759           4,268,049  
North Devon                             3,204              692,081  
North East Derbyshire                             3,594              776,323  
North East Lincolnshire                              7,662           1,655,033  
North Hertfordshire                             4,214              910,246  
North Kesteven                             2,384              514,957  
North Lincolnshire                              5,417           1,170,101  
North Norfolk                             3,351              723,834  
North Somerset                              6,910           1,492,597  
North Tyneside                             9,370           2,023,970  
North Warwickshire                             2,099              453,395  
North West Leicestershire                             2,524              545,197  
Northampton                             8,617           1,861,318  



 
 

11 

Northumberland                            15,655           3,381,563  
Norwich                             9,430           2,036,930  
Nottingham                             18,624           4,022,883  
Nuneaton & Bedworth                             5,356           1,156,924  
Oadby & Wigston                             1,270              274,327  
Oldham                           13,960           3,015,434  
Oxford                             5,354           1,156,492  
Pendle                             4,767           1,029,697  
Peterborough                              7,726           1,668,857  
Plymouth                            11,921           2,574,999  
Portsmouth                              8,641           1,866,502  
Preston                             8,312           1,795,436  
Reading                              4,411              952,799  
Redbridge                             9,366           2,023,106  
Redcar & Cleveland                              8,555           1,847,925  
Redditch                             3,110              671,777  
Reigate & Banstead                             3,493              754,507  
Ribble Valley                             1,028              222,053  
Richmond upon Thames                             5,179           1,118,691  
Richmondshire                             1,137              245,598  
Rochdale                           14,186           3,064,251  
Rochford                             1,560              336,968  
Rossendale                             3,401              734,634  
Rother                             3,013              650,824  
Rotherham                           13,261           2,864,446  
Rugby                             3,018              651,904  
Runnymede                             1,564              337,832  
Rushcliffe                             2,386              515,389  
Rushmoor                             2,507              541,525  
Rutland                                 563              121,611  
Ryedale                             1,544              333,512  
Salford                           16,582           3,581,800  
Sandwell                           21,050           4,546,912  
Scarborough                             5,757           1,243,543  
Sedgemoor                             3,934              849,765  
Sefton                           14,058           3,036,603  
Selby                             2,425              523,813  
Sevenoaks                             3,228              697,265  
Sheffield                           28,048           6,058,517  
Shropshire                              7,130           1,540,118  
Slough                              6,168           1,332,321  
Solihull                             7,277           1,571,871  
Somerset West & Taunton                             6,398           1,382,002  
South Cambridgeshire                             3,061              661,192  
South Derbyshire                             2,806              606,111  
South Gloucestershire                              5,166           1,115,883  
South Hams                             2,351              507,828  
South Holland                             2,136              461,387  



 
 

12 

South Kesteven                             4,281              924,719  
South Lakeland                             2,255              487,092  
South Norfolk                             3,501              756,235  
South Northamptonshire                             1,314              283,831  
South Oxfordshire                             2,672              577,166  
South Ribble                             3,274              707,201  
South Somerset                             5,350           1,155,628  
South Staffordshire                             2,384              514,957  
South Tyneside                           11,563           2,497,669  
Southampton                            11,963           2,584,071  
Southend-on-Sea                              7,694           1,661,945  
Southwark                           16,094           3,476,389  
Spelthorne                             2,725              588,614  
St Albans                             3,608              779,347  
St Helens                             8,823           1,905,815  
Stafford                             3,014              651,040  
Staffordshire Moorlands                             2,393              516,901  
Stevenage                             3,608              779,347  
Stockport                           11,400           2,462,460  
Stockton-on-Tees                            11,297           2,440,212  
Stoke-on-Trent                            14,617           3,157,350  
Stratford-on-Avon                             3,059              660,760  
Stroud                             2,910              628,575  
Sunderland                           19,424           4,195,687  
Surrey Heath                             1,359              293,551  
Sutton                             7,624           1,646,824  
Swale                             5,432           1,173,341  
Swindon                              6,045           1,305,752  
Tameside                             9,991           2,158,109  
Tamworth                             2,619              565,718  
Tandridge                             2,160              466,571  
Teignbridge                             4,352              940,055  
Telford & Wrekin                              8,426           1,820,061  
Tendring                             6,363           1,374,442  
Test Valley                             2,656              573,710  
Tewkesbury                             2,464              532,237  
Thanet                             7,615           1,644,880  
Three Rivers                             2,304              497,676  
Thurrock                              5,944           1,283,936  
Tonbridge & Malling                             4,013              866,829  
Torbay                              7,456           1,610,536  
Torridge                             1,941              419,266  
Tower Hamlets                           20,287           4,382,100  
Trafford                             7,227           1,561,070  
Tunbridge Wells                             2,879              621,879  
Uttlesford                             1,506              325,304  
Vale of White Horse                             2,864              618,639  
Wakefield                           15,766           3,405,540  



 
 

13 

Walsall                           17,959           3,879,239  
Waltham Forest                             9,509           2,053,994  
Wandsworth                             9,202           1,987,681  
Warrington                              7,359           1,589,583  
Warwick                             3,793              819,308  
Watford                             3,713              802,028  
Waverley                             2,442              527,485  
Wealden                             3,193              689,705  
Wellingborough                             2,548              550,382  
Welwyn Hatfield                             3,826              826,436  
West Berkshire                              2,541              548,870  
West Devon                             1,648              355,977  
West Lancashire                             4,606              994,920  
West Lindsey                             3,673              793,388  
West Oxfordshire                             2,197              474,564  
West Suffolk                             4,804           1,037,690  
Westminster                           10,202           2,203,686  
Wigan                           16,246           3,509,222  
Wiltshire                            14,917           3,222,151  
Winchester                             3,054              659,680  
Windsor & Maidenhead                              2,612              564,206  
Wirral                           18,106           3,910,992  
Woking                             2,340              505,452  
Wokingham                              1,924              415,594  
Wolverhampton                           15,149           3,272,264  
Worcester                             4,021              868,557  
Worthing                             3,285              709,577  
Wychavon                             3,552              767,251  
Wyre                             4,832           1,043,738  
Wyre Forest                             4,409              952,367  
York                              4,430              956,904  

 

 

 

 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



Business Grant/Relief Amount Paid/Relief Granted Number of Businesses
Expanded Retail, Hospitality 
and Leisure Discount

£6,673,895 413

Nursery Discount £118,901 9
Small Business Grant £7,480,000 749
Retail, Leisure and Hospitality 
Grant

£4,830,000 295

Local Discretionary Grant £636,250 110
LRSG(Closed)(Addendum) £519,856 358
LRSG (Closed) £34,334 38
LRSG (Open) £37,130 54
Christmas Support for Wet-Led 
Pubs Payment

£29,000 29

LRSG(Closed) 
(Addendum)Tier 4

£212,986 239

LRSG 
(Closed)(Addendum)January

£524.199 239

Closed Business Lockdown 
Payment

£1,048,000 239



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting of the board held on 25 November 2020
	6 Corporate Volunteer Policy
	Appendix A Corporate Volunteer Policy CPCS 140121 V2final
	Appendix B EIA-Corporate Volunteer Policy 14-01-21 (2) Final

	7 Urgent Decisions for Business Rate Relief ,Grants and Council Tax
	Appendix _A _BRIL_5_-_2020_-_Budget_Measures
	FOR THE ATTENTION OF THE BUSINESS RATES SECTION
	Business Rates Information Letter (5/2020): Coronavirus Response and Guidance

	Appendix B BRIL_4_2020_Coronavirus_Response_Guidance
	FOR THE ATTENTION OF THE BUSINESS RATES SECTION
	Business Rates Information Letter (4/2020): Coronavirus Response and Guidance

	Appendix C Nursery_discount_guidance_April_2020
	About this guidance
	Introduction
	Nursery Discount
	How will the relief be provided?
	Which properties will benefit from relief?
	State Aid
	Splits, mergers, and changes to existing hereditaments

	Annex A: Calculation examples for 2020/21

	Apendix D business-support-grants-funding-schemes-local-authorities-guidance-v6
	Contents
	The guidance
	Introduction
	How will the grants be provided?
	How much funding will be provided to businesses?
	Who will benefit from these schemes?
	Small Business Grant Fund
	Exclusions to Small Business Grant Fund
	Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant
	Exclusions to RHLG

	Who will receive this funding?
	Will these grant schemes be subject to tax?
	Managing the risk of fraud
	Rating List Changes
	Rating List Changes Exceptions
	Post Event Assurance
	Monitoring and Reporting Requirements
	State Aid

	Annex A - Summary of Scheme Requirements
	Annex B – Post-Payment Reporting
	Background
	Process
	Definitions

	Annex C – State Aid: sample paragraphs that could be included in letters to grant recipients
	Template to send to beneficiaries of aid awarded based on the UK COVID-19 Temporary Framework0F
	Confirmation of State aid received under x Scheme, and Undertaking in Difficulty status
	DECLARATION

	Template to send to beneficiaries of aid awarded based on De Minimis Rules
	Refusal of Grant form


	Appendix E_LRSG Open
	Appendix F  Additional Restrictions grant guidance GOSPORT
	Appendix G COVID-19_Council_Tax_Hardship_Fund_Guidance
	About this guidance
	Introduction
	Underpinning principles
	Minimum reduction in council tax liability for working age local council tax support claimants
	Wider consideration – additional discretionary support
	Allocation of funding

	Business Grant notes paid out as at 180121

	10 Hardship Marina fitness
	Appendix 1 - Marina Fitness Jan 2019 buinsess plan
	Appendix 2 P_O Board report 201119
	Appendix 3 Marina Fitness App Feb 2020




